
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Monday 21 March 2022 
 

Development Panel 
 

Tuesday 29 March 2022, 10.00 am 
 

Council Chamber, Allerdale House 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor George Kemp Councillor Elaine Lynch 
Councillor Antony McGuckin Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Tyson 

 

 
 If you have any questions or queries contact Kathryn Magnay on 

kathryn.magnay@allerdale.gov.uk. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 18) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 15 March 2022. 
  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two 
clear working days before the day of the meeting. 

  



5. 2/2018/0595 - Land west of Derwent Howe Retail Park, Derwent Drive, 
Workington - Outline planning application for commercial development 
involved mixed retail (A1) food (A3) and hot food takeaways (A5) totalling 
2,350sqm (25.295sqft)  (Pages 19 - 64) 

 

6. FUL/2019/0210 - Land at New Bridge Road, Workington - Erection of a new 
discount foodstore with car parking, landscaping and other associated 
works  (Pages 65 - 112) 

 

 

 
 

Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Tuesday 12 April 2022, 1.00 pm 

 
 
 



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber, Allerdale House on 
Tuesday 15 March 2022 at 10.00 am 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes Councillor Antony McGuckin 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Paul Scott 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Tyson 
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Elaine Lynch 
 
Staff Present 
 
Law, S Long, K Magnay and J Morgan 
 
Also Present 
 
Shamus Giles and Pieter Barnard from Cumbria County Council 
 
 
418. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting on 15 February 2022 were signed as a correct 
record. 
 

419. Declaration of Interests  
 
Councillor N Cockburn declared an interest in item 5 - FUL/2021/0070; 
Councillor N Cockburn has attended lots of meetings and consultations 
regarding Derwent Forest and part of Derwent Forest is in her ward, however 
this will not affect her ability in the decision-making. 
 
Councillor D Horsley declared an interest in item 5 – FUL/2021/0070; part of 
Derwent Forest is in his ward, however, this will not affect his ability in the 
decision-making. 
 

420. Questions  
 
None received. 
 

421. FUL/2021/0070 - Derwent Forest - Residential Development (71 Dwellings)  
 
Representations 
 
Stephen Murray and Martin Lankester spoke in objection to the application. 
 
Christine Hardman spoke in support of the application. 
 
The Agent, Peter Shannon spoke in support of the application. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 
Application 
 
The Senior Planning Officer, Steve Long recommended to grant the application 
subject to no objections from Natural England to an assessment under the 
Habitats regulations and S106 legal agreement. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer reported reference to the late list document, 
additional plans had been received which all match each other and further 
representations had been received from Seaton Parish Council highlighting their 
previous concerns on the potential traffic impacts. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows: 
 

 Principle of Development 
 
The scheme as amended is acceptable in accordance with the objectives 
of Policy S18 of ALLP1. The proposal will deliver beneficial local 
connectivity and restoration measures, proportionate to the scale of the 
development proposed. 
 

 Layout and Scale 
 

As amended, the major development proposed seeks to reflect the 
house style concepts of the original development and be sympathetic 
with its open countryside setting. 

The nearest property is approx. 260m distance from the site. A 
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) has been 
submitted for the development 
 

 Highways 
 

The layout and access details as amended meet the requirements of the 
County highway authority. In order to improve connectivity, the scheme 
incorporates the extension of the existing C2C route which lies to the 
west of the site, across the site to the Broughton Moor/ Gt Broughton 
highway as well as the estate itself. 

The issue of the C2C extension has been confirmed by the applicant as 
to be Multiuser i.e. available for additional use by horse riders. 

The applicant has provided details for the Construction Traffic 
Management Plan. 
 

 Education 
 

The securing of the enhanced education infrastructure/ transport services 
has been assessed with the County Education department.  

The scheme was amended to deliver all primary/ junior education 
contributions to the academy at Gt Broughton (£250,000) as unlike 

Page 4



Broughton Moor there is already the bulk of an existing pedestrian 
footway link to this settlement, which would be completed as part of the 
development. 

In terms of secondary school education contributions, the County agreed 
to amend their recommendation to deliver the secondary education 
element to Maryport rather than Cockermouth School as it is nearer and 
has spare capacity, however would be subject to the provision of a 
(£71,250) contribution for transport. 

The applicant has provided a timetable for the submissions of these 
sums which has been accepted by the County. 
 

 Contamination 
 

The bespoke Policy S18 of ALPP1 relating to this specific Derwent 
Forest site seeks a form of enabling development (e.g. residential) to 
facilitate the clean-up of the site. Policy S30 also endorses the 
remediation of existing contaminated land/buildings. There has been 
detailed examination of the historical legacy of the site and its operations, 
to establish the extent of this constraint. The proposal includes the 
removal and restoration of the southern section of the former munition 
site, with the relocation of the existing perimeter fence alongside the 
revised route of the C2C.  

 Affordable Housing 

The proposed scheme as amended will deliver 20% local affordable 
home ownership housing quota (14 dwellings) required under the 
provisions of Policy SA3 of ALLP2 to be secured under the S106. 

 Drainage 

The foul and surface water drainage details are acceptable in compliance 
with policy S29 of ALPP1 

 Ecology 
 
Policy S35 refers to ecology/ biodiversity. The application is supported by 
detailed ecological surveys. Subject to mitigation being secured these 
details are safeguarded. 
A habitat regulation assessment (HRA) for the proposed works has been 
received. 

Following member discussions, Councillor A Semple proposed to refuse the 
application doesn’t deliver the vision or comply with Policy S18. 

Councillor N Cockburn seconded the motion and to include policy S22. 

Planning Manager Graeme Law advised members they need to be clear and 
concise with the wording for the motion. 

 

Page 5



Motion   

Reason 1: The proposal is contrary to Local Plan Policy S18 (Derwent Forest) 
in that it fails to adequately demonstrate a viable mix of uses to enable the 
restoration of the whole Derwent Forest site. 
As a piecemeal proposal covering only one part of the allocated Derwent Forest 
site, it fails to adequately meet the criteria of the policy and in particular fails to: 

a) Produce a comprehensive masterplan for the site as part of the planning 
application. (The applicants ‘masterplan’ is not comprehensive, failing to 
provide appropriate triggers and thresholds, without clear mechanism for 
verall delivery). 

b) Ensure that off-site infrastructure is adequate to accommodate the 
overall proposals for the site. 

 
Reason 2: The proposal is contrary to Local Plan Policy S22 (Transport 
Principles) in that it fails to adequately demonstrate that it meets the transport 
principles of the Local Plan both for the specific proposal and for the masterplan 
required under Policy S22 (Derwent Forest). 
 
The proposal is therefore contrary to the Development Plan, no material 
planning considerations have been identified to justify departure from the 
Development Plan; consequently the proposal fails to balance Economic, 
Environmental and Community objectives as set out in the government’s NPPF 
guidance and is therefore not sustainable development. 
 
A vote was taken: 11 voted in favour of refusal and 1 against. 

The motion in favour of refusal was carried. 

Decision 

Refused 

 
422. OUT/2021/0024 - Land to the rear of Thorndykes, Hayton - Re-submission 

of OUT/2020/0016 - Outline application for one dwelling with access and 
landscaping  
 
Representations 
 
Bill Finlay and Christine Steele spoke in objection to the application. 
 
The Planning Officer read out an email on behalf of Andrew Fielding and 
Vanessa Sonnabend these were in objection to the application. 
 
The Agent, Anthea Jones spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The Planning Officer, Kerry McCartney recommended to refuse the application. 
 
The Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main issues within 
the report as follows: 

Page 6



 

 Principle of Development 
 
The proposal site it situated within the village of Hayton which is 
specified in the Local Plan (part 1) as an infill/rounding off village.  Part 2 
of the Local Plan omits any settlement limits for the village.  The merits of 
the principle of the development therefore fundamentally relate to 
whether, physically, the plot itself constitutes an infill or rounding off plot. 
It is the opinion of officers that this site does not fall into this category. 

The proposal is therefore considered contrary to Policy S3 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan. 
 

 Highways 
 

Cumbria Highways have raised no objections to the proposal subject to 
conditions relating to visibility splays and construction and drainage 
specification details for the access area.  The proposal is therefore 
considered acceptable in terms of highway considerations.   
 

 Amenity 
 

It is considered that the development site is of significant distance to 
neighbouring properties to overcome any potential amenity issues and 
any amenity issues would be addressed as part of any future reserved 
matters application.   
 

 Heritage 
 

The site falls just outside of the Hayton Conservation Area, however the 
access road is within.  The application site is located within Hadrian’s 
Wall World Heritage Site Buffer Zone and is also adjacent to a Listed 
Building (The Chapel) directly to the right of the access track.   

It is considered that a development of one residential dwelling could be 
achieved without resulting in detriment to the above assets.   

 Drainage 
 

A drainage report has been submitted with the application which are 
considered satisfactory for the development.  

Following member discussions, Councillor N Cockburn proposed to refuse the 
application as per officers recommendations. 

Councillor R Munby seconded the motion. 

Councillor C Armstrong requested a recorded vote. A vote was taken on the 
request for a recorded vote, which was approved. 
 
A recorded vote was taken on the Motion, viz. – 
 
 

Page 7



In favour: 
 
Councillors T Annison, C Armstrong, N Cockburn, A Daniels, J Farebrother, D 
Horsley, C McCarron-Holmes, A McGuckin, R Munby, P Scott, A Semple and A 
Tyson 
 
12 voted in favour of refusal  

The motion in favour of refusal was carried. 

Decision 

Refused 

 Break for Lunch 12:40 - 13:30   
  
 Councillor McCarron-Holmes and Councillor Munby left the meeting   
  
423. FUL/2021/0301 - Barn Neighbouring Holme Leigh & Kelsick Farm, Kelsick - 

Proposed barn conversion to provide residential dwelling, demolition of 
existing WC to front (south) elevation and erection of two storey rear/side 
extension to provide quiet living, work area, rehabilitation and shower 
room on the ground floor and playroom, office, bedroom, bathroom and 
cupboard at first floor  
 
Representations 
 
The Applicant, Matthew Atkinson spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The Senior Planning Officer, Rebecca Wilson recommended to refuse the 
application. 
 
The Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main issues within 
the report as follows: 
 

 Principle of Development 
 
Policy S3 and S31 of the Local Plan (Part 1) supports the reuse of rural 
buildings in the open countryside.  

Officers are satisfied that the building is capable of conversion and the 
principle of conversion can be supported.  

However, concern is raised with regards to the new build element that 
would significantly alter the footprint of the development contrary to 
Policies S14 and S31 of the Local Plan (Part 1). 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 Demolition and Biodiversity 
 

The scale of the small lean to element on the southern elevation offers 
little character to the site or visual amenity to the area and no objections 
are raised to its demolition.  

The applicant has adequately addressed the proposal is acceptable in 
terms of impact on protected species in line with Policy S35 subject to 
mitigations measures which can be secured by condition.  
 

 Design 
 
Officers consider the proposed alterations and extension to the building, 
in the form of the scale of the two storey extension, addition of a balcony 
at first floor level and the use of inappropriate materials are inappropriate 
for its rural location and fails to respond positively to the character and 
history of the existing resulting in a development that would adversely 
alter the appearance of the existing building contrary to Polices S3, S31 
and DM15 of the Allerdale Local Plan.  

 
Following member discussions, Councillor C Armstrong proposed to defer the 
application for further communication between the officers and the applicant to 
draw together the council’s policy and the applicant’s requirements. 

Councillor P Scott seconded the motion. 

A vote was taken: the vote for deferral was unanimous. 
 
The motion in favour of deferral was carried. 

Decision 

Deferred 

 
424. FUL/2021/0013 - Gale Brow - Caravan Development  

 
Representations 
 
The Agent, Richard Lindsay spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The Senior Planning Officer, Rebecca Wilson recommended to approve the 
application subject to the conditions in the report and in addition, condition 8 
has been revised, additional conditions 25, 26 and 27 have been added. 
 
The Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main issues within 
the report as follows: 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 Background 
 
The site has been used for mixed purposes and has a varied planning 
history. Inspectors comments in relation to recent planning appeals for 
tourism accommodation at the site have suggested that the main area of 
concern for tourism development related to landscape impact. 
 

 Principle 
 

Inspectors comments in relation to recent planning appeals found the site 
to have accessible access to facilities. The site is brownfield and is well 
related to the local transport network. Despite conflict with Planning 
Policy SA32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) July 2020, it is 
recognised that the development would bring about a cohesive use for 
the previously developed site in place of the existing mixed uses and 
would bring about some benefits to the local economy. 
 

 Landscape 
 

The application is accompanied by a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment 
(LVIA) and landscaping scheme to mitigate against any adverse impacts 
which would be brought about by the development. Appropriately worded 
conditions can be used to safeguard the landscaping plan and ensure 
mitigation for the development. 
 

 Highways 
 

Cumbria highways object to the proposal due to the absence of specified 
visibility splays from the existing access. It is considered that refusal of 
the application on these grounds would be unwarranted given the limited 
use of the access road by vehicular traffic, the likely low speed of such 
traffic and that the access is an existing access in use at the site. 

 

 Residential Amenity 
 

The development would bring about a low density lodge site, separated 
from adjacent properties. Conditions are suggested to ensure the 
residential amenity of neighbouring properties is safeguarded. 
 

 Drainage 
 
Suitable drainage can be secured by condition. 
 

 Contamination 
 
Conditions in relation to contamination are required. 
 

 Ecology 
 

Further ecology survey works prior to demolition of existing buildings can 
be secured by planning condition. 

 

Page 10



Following member discussions, Councillor T Annison proposed to approve 
the application as per officers recommendations and the conditions. 

Councillor C Armstrong seconded the motion. 

A vote was taken: the vote for approval was unanimous. 
 
The motion in favour of approval l was carried. 

Decision 

Approved 

Conditions 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans: 
Location Plan received 26th January 2022 

Brochure detail for lodges 

Drwg No: 01003 Rev:01 - Section through proposed entrance 

Drwg No: 01002 Rev:01 – Proposed works to existing entrance 

Plan of buildings to be demolished 

Drawing number D/01 – Paving details 

WW/10B Rev B – Landscape Sections 

WW/L01 Rev J – Outline Landscape Plan 

WW/L01 Rev F - Planting Plan 

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 

complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-

material alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 

3. Prior to the commencement of demolition works on site, details of a 

bat emergence survey, a dawn survey or automated bat survey and 

further internal and external inspection by a qualified consultant 

shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

Authority. Any approved mitigation measures shall be fully 

implemented in accordance with the approved detailed scheme. 

Reason:  To safeguard any potential bat species during construction 

works at the application site, in compliance with the National Planning 

Policy Framework, Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 

Adopted July 2014. 

4. No trees or hedges on the site shall be topped, lopped, felled or 
uprooted without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: In order to ensure that adequate protection is afforded to the 
existing trees on the site. 
 

Page 11



5. Landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with drawing 
number WW/L01 Rev F. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised 
within the scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season 
following completion of the development and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with other 
similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality. 
 

6. A landscaping management plan including long term design 
objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules for all landscaped areas shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to operation. The 
development shall thereafter be maintained at all times in 
accordance with the approved landscaping management plan.  
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of the 
landscaping for the development in the open countryside in compliance 
with Policies S32 and S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 

 
7. Details of the lodges including any terrace, platform or hard 

surfacing on or around the lodges site shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority, prior to installation.  
Reason: In the interests of and to protect surrounding visual amenity. 
 

8. The holiday lodges (except the Manager’s lodge) hereby approved 
shall not be used at any time as the sole or principal residence by 
an occupants.  
Reason:  The Local Planning Authority would wish to carefully examine 
the use of the building other than for holiday accommodation to assess 
whether it would be acceptable in terms of location, access and amenity, 
having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies 
S2, S3, S32 and S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014 and Policy SA2 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 adopted Sept 
2020. 
 

9. A register of all occupants of the holiday accommodation hereby 
approved shall be maintained at all times and shall be made 
available for inspection by the Local Planning Authority within 10 
days of a request. The register shall contain the name and address 
of the principal occupier together with the dates of occupation.  
Reason:  The Local Planning Authority would wish to carefully examine 
the use of the building other than for holiday accommodation to assess 
whether it would be acceptable in terms of location, access and amenity, 
having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S17 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 

Page 12



10. Prior to the use of the development hereby approved, details of the 
lighting scheme for the site shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be implemented 
solely in accordance with the approved scheme.  
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
11. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 

above ground floor level until details of the treatment and finishes 
of all surfaces within the site have been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. The details so approved shall be 
completed prior to the use of the development hereby approved and 
shall be retained at all times thereafter. 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development for 
the external appearance of the approved scheme in relation to its 
surroundings, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014. 

 
12. Details of the siting, height and type of all means of 

enclosure/screen walls/fences/other means of enclosure shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
the occupation of the development.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is 
compatible with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the 
amenity of neighbouring properties. 

 
13. Notwithstanding the proposed submitted levels prior to works 

commencing on site details of all proposed ground floor levels 
including finished floor levels of the building, levels of any paths, 
drives, garages, and parking areas and materials of any retaining 
walls shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. The works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved works. 
Reason: To ensure that works are carried out to a suitable level in 
relation to the 
adjoining properties and highways and in the interest of visual amenity. 

 
14. Prior to the use of the development, a surface water drainage 

scheme based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National 
Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the 
site conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed and 
maintained after completion) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surface water drainage 
scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water 
shall discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or 
indirectly. The development shall be completed, maintained and 
managed in accordance with the approved details.  

Page 13



Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage 
and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 

 
15. Prior to the commencement of works, details of the non-mains foul 

drainage systems for the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved non-mains drainage assessment 
including the following specific mitigation measures detailed 
therein :  

a. Soakaways to be constructed to BS6297:2007  
b. No connection to watercourse or land drainage system and 

no part of the soakaway system is within 10 metres of any 
ditch or watercourse.  

c. No siting of the septic tank/package sewage treatment plant 
within 50 metres or upslope of any well, spring or borehole 
used for private water supply.  

The details hereby approved shall be implemented prior to the use 
of the development.   
Reason: To enable a satisfactory means of non-mains foul drainage, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
DM12 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
16. No development shall take place until a Construction and 

Demolition Method Statement has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall 
include the following: 
Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning 
and compound areas; 

a. Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from 
the construction and demolition and to monitor any 
properties at risk of damage from vibration, as well as taking 
into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All 
measurements should make reference to BS7445. 

b. Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual 
impact, noise, and light pollution. 

c. A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition; 

d. Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing 
facilities); 

e. Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
f. Hours of working and deliveries; 
g. Details of lighting to be used on site; 
h. Highway signage/ Haulage routes.  

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
duration of the development. 
Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the 
development hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning 

Page 14



Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of highway safety. 

 
17. No development approved by this permission shall commence until 

all necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have 
been carried out to establish the degree and nature of the 
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause 
harm to human health. The scope of works for the site 
investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement. 
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
18. Should land affected by contamination be identified under condition 

17 following site investigations which poses unacceptable risks to 
human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of 
remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a 
description and programme of the works to be undertaken 
including the verification plan. 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
19. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 18, the 

approved strategy shall be implemented and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

20. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development that was not previously identified it 
must be reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. 
Development on the part of the site affected must be halted and a 
risk assessment carried out and submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken 
in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 

Page 15



Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 

21. The access drive shall be surfaced in bituminous or cement bound 

materials, or otherwise bound and shall be constructed and 

completed before the development is brought into use. This 

surfacing shall extend for a distance of at least 5 metres inside the 

site, as measured from the carriageway edge of the adjacent 

highway. Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental 

management.  

 

22. The use of the development shall not be commenced until the 

access has been formed to give a minimum width of 4.8 metres, and 

that part of the access road extending 10 metres into the site from 

the existing highway has been constructed in accordance with 

details approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental 

management.  

 

23. Any existing highway fence/wall boundary shall be reduced to a 
height not exceeding 1.0m above the carriageway level of the 
adjacent highway before the development is brought into use and 
shall not be raised to a height exceeding 1.0m thereafter.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety for the visibility of construction 
and operational traffic using the approved access. 

 

24. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to 
prevent surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to 
development being commenced. Any approved works shall be 
implemented prior to the development being completed and shall 
be maintained operational thereafter.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental 
management.  
 

25. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
all holiday units shall be sited entirely in accordance with drawing 
WW/L01 Rev J Gale Brow Winscales Outline Landscape Plan 
received 20 January 2022 and no more than 12 holiday units plus 1 
Manager’s lodge shall be sited within the development as hereby 
approved. 
Reason: In order to minimise the visual impact of the development in the 
locality in compliance with Policies S2, S32 and S33 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

26. Prior to occupation of any lodge, details of the pitch of the 
Manager’s Lodge shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved Manager’s lodge shall thereafter 
be solely occupied by the site Manager or dependants of such 

Page 16



persons residing with him or her, or a widow or widower of such 
persons and shall be removed from the site on cessation of the 
holiday use of the lodge site as approved. 
Reason: To ensure that non-essential residential development in the 
open countryside is removed from the site on cessation of the holiday 
use in accordance with Policy S3 Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014 and Policy SA2 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 adopted Sept 
2020. 

27. The lodges hereby approved shall be used for holiday let 
accommodation (except the Manger’s Lodge) and for no other 
purpose (including any other purpose in Class C of the Schedule to 
the Town and Country Planning [Use Classes] Order 2015), or in 
any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification. 
 Reason:  The Local Planning Authority would wish to examine the use of 
the building other than for holiday accommodation to assess whether it 
would be acceptable in terms of location, access and amenity, having 
regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy SA32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted Sept 2020. 

 

The meeting closed at 2.30 pm 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Allerdale Borough Council 

 
Planning Application 2/2018/0595 

 
Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: 2/2018/0595 

Valid Date: 30/08/2019 

Location: Land west of Derwent Howe retail park, Derwent 
Drive, Workington, Cumbria CA14 3YW 

Applicant:  

Proposal: Outline planning application for commercial 
development involved mixed retail (A1) food (A3) and 
hot food takeaway(A5) totalling 2,350sqm 
(25,295sqft). 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS  

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The proposed retail store is considered to 
be a ‘town-centre’ use and as such the 
application is subject to a sequential 
assessment to discount other available 
sites within the town centre, plus a retail 
assessment to demonstrate any impact 
of the vitality and viability of the town 
centre. It has been robustly evidenced 
that there are no suitable, available sites 
in sequentially preferable locations to 
accommodate the development and the 
impact is acceptable.  
Furthermore this evidence has been the 
subject of an independent peer review.  It 
is concluded subject to planning condition 
on the type of comparison goods, that 
there are no available or suitable, 
alternative sites in sequentially preferable 
locations to accommodate the proposed 
development and the retail impact on the 
vitality and viability of the town centre is 
acceptable.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



The proposal therefore complies with 
policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 1. 

Highway safety The site is in a sustainable location with 
access to public transport. 

The application is supported by traffic 
assessment and the application includes 
the reserved matters of access which is 
served via the existing roundabout 
junction opposite Morrison’s retail park on 
Derwent Drive. 

The County Council as highway authority 
consider the transport evidence to be 
acceptable.  

Ecology  The application site relates to the route of 
a former disused railway line which has 
naturally regenerated. The application 
has undertaken an ecology survey of the 
site, plus a bat, reptile and an 
Entomology report at the time of the 
application submission. In response to 
the representations the council undertook 
its own peer butterfly assessment in 
2019. As the original were out of date 
during the course of the application an 
updated amended preliminary ecological 
appraisal was submitted (July 2021) 

The surveys recommend mitigation 
measures to address any impacts. 

Whilst the presence of small blue 
butterfly colonies and habitat is evident in 
the locality, the applicant has offered a 
mitigation scheme partially retaining 
islands and securing a new peripheral 
corridor for butterflies which 
compensates for any loss and retains the 
connectivity linkage along the route of the 
disused line. The proposal as amended 
complies with policy S35.  

Trees  The belt of trees on the eastern boundary 
of the site fronting onto Derwent Drive 
were formerly protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order as they were 
perceived as being under threat by the 

Page 20



development. The application has 
defined a developable zone within the 
site which would result in the loss of the 
trees on the western side of the roadside 
embankment which supports the trees. 
As this results in the visual amenity value 
of the trees visible to public view on 
Derwent Drive being retained, these 
details are considered acceptable, with 
no significant harm to public amenity. 

 
 
2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 The outline proposal is for 2350 sq.m of commercial floorspace including retail 

(Class A-both convenience and comparison), Class A3 food and drink and Class 
A5 hot food takeaway on a 1.61 ha site on a linear area of wasteland on the 
western boundary of Derwent Drive. The first two landuses would fall under the 
new Class E category under the revised use class order. As a speculative 
application no specific allocation has been attributed in breaking down any 
percentages of the floorspace between these land uses to facilitate flexibility in 
future marketing of the site. 

      
2.2  Although most reserved matters are not included in the application (e.g. 

layout/appearance scale and landscaping) to enable commercial marketing 
flexibility, the details of the proposals access junction is included as part of the 
submission. This would upgrade the existing mini roundabout junction on 
Derwent Drive (which also serves Derwent Retail Park), to provide a new 
western fourth entrance link with an access corridor through the existing 
wooded embankment.  

 
2.3  In response the sites existing physical constraints of the TPO trees and the 

butterfly habitat, the applicant has submitted a supporting plan to define a 
specific developable area. This area excludes part of the TPO corridor on the 
highway frontage of the site. It also safeguards an established butterfly colony 
at the northern edge of the site and introduces a new narrow butterfly corridor 
around the western perimeter of the site to seek to retain connectivity for 
butterfly colonies using the habitat along the linear route of the former railway 
line. 

 
2.4  It is envisaged the development would be supported by 90 car parking spaces, 5 

motorcycle spaces, 5 disability spaces and 5 five light goods spaces. 
 
2.5 The Plans for consideration are:- 
 

 Amended Dwg SK001 Indicative potential parking design planting 2-9-19 

 Amended Dwg 14 Plant specification and schedule 2-9-19 

 Location plan 

 Flood risk and drainage assessment rev A092014 Rev A (29/10/18) 

Page 21



 Developable Areas A 04/05/21 

 Amended drawing No 13 planting plan 19/04/21 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal update July 2021 

 Elliot reptile survey report September 2018 

 Bat Survey report September 2018  

 Entomology report October 2018. 

 E-mail re comparison goods dated 17/5/21  
 

2.6     The application was also supported by reports on : retail impact assessment  
including sequential test (updated) trees, preliminary Environmental risk 
assessment (parts 1-3), reptile and bat survey, flood risk, ecological impact, 
transport assessment, entomology survey, coal mining risk assessment, 
interim travel plan. 

 
3.0 Site 
 
3.1  The proposal constitutes a 1.61 ha site which predominantly relates to derelict 

land formerly occupied by the railway line infrastructure serving the 
steelworks. It is an irregular, linear site in a north south orientation with a 
forked area at its southern end which reflects the trackbed routes of the former 
railways. This disused corridor has naturally regenerated, but its open and 
overgrown route along the line appears to be presently used as an informal 
walkway.  

 
3.2  The western boundary of the site abuts an area of small tree vegetation. The 

eastern perimeter of the site adjoining Derwent Drive is bordered by a tall 
earth embankment supporting a belt of trees which officers assume was 
implemented as part of the landscaping works associated with the reclamation 
and redevelopment of the steelworks site.(This linear strip of trees is protected 
under a Tree Preservation Order.) 

 
3.3 The application site is located in a section of the town dominated by both 

commercial and industrial development. Derwent Drive acts as a definitive 
physical boundary to the site, with the conglomeration of Derwent Howe’s retail 
parks sited on the opposite side of Derwent Drive. Lakes Road forms the 
southern edge of the site with KFC’s fast food/takeaway on the opposite corner 
junction to Derwent Drive. The land to the south and North West is predominantly 
industrial in its character.  

 
3.4 The remaining land to the west contributes to the wider landscaped sloped 

grounds of the open space associated with Derwent Howe’s landscaped 
slagbank. 

 
3.5 A public footbath 262026 traverses across the southern section of the site. 
 
4.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 Prior to the submission of the application a woodland tree preservation order 

(TPO No.5 2014 ) was issued to protect the long strip of established landscaping 
(most of which is sited on an embankment) along the road frontage to Derwent 

Page 22



Drives highway corridor. The Council considered these trees were of amenity 
value to the streetscene. 

 
4.2 There is no recent planning history of planning applications directly relating to this 

disused site.  
 

4.2 A screening opinion was undertaken for the proposed development with the 
council confirming on 17th January 2019 that although the development 
constituted schedule 2 development under the provisions of the Town and 
Country planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) regulations 2017 it was 
not EIA development. Whilst the value of their priority /BAP butterfly species 
(although not protected) was recognised, it was considered their significance only 
concerned matters of local importance. 

 
5.0 Representations 

 
Workington Town Council  

 
5.1 Recommend Refusal -The committee reiterated its past stated belief that this 

development would have a very negative impact on town centre vitality and on 
the emerging value of Derwent Howe open space. Its impact on traffic congestion 
on Derwent Drive would be considerable and no manner of any town 
“Blandscaping” would ameliorate it. 

 
Cumbria County Highways Authority 

5.2 Initial concerns on insufficient information. Further to the receipt of additional 
information, the highway authority advise the safety audit reviewing the 
modifications to the roundabout have demonstrated these alterations can be 
achieved to accommodate the proposal. Therefore there are no highway 
objections subject to highway conditions. 
 
Cumbria County Rights of Way Officer  

 
5.3 Public footpath 262026 runs across the southern end of the site and will require a 

formal diversion or remain unaltered /unobstructed. Any temporary obstruction 
will require a formal temporary closure. 

 
Cumbria County Minerals and Waste  

 
5.4 No comments (the site is not within a safeguarding zone). 
 

Cumbria Constabulary  
 
5.5 Acknowledge the application is in outline and the illustrative layout is indicative. 

Reference is made to the applicants design and access statement with regards to 
the NPPF “create places that are safe, secure and attractive” and Policy DM14 of 
the local plan. Any future detailed scheme should demonstrate how crime 
prevention measures have been incorporated with references to; layout, 
landscaping, footpaths, service yards, bin management, external 

Page 23



openings/accesses, internal layout and access controls, secure storage facilities 
for staff personal belongings and CCTV. 

 
United Utilities 
 

5.6 No objections subject to drainage conditions to ensure its compliance with the 
submitted Flood risk and drainage assessment rev A092014 Rev A (29/10/18) 

 
Coal Authority  

 
5.7      Advise the site is in a Development High risk Area and therefore coal mining 

features and hazards. The application is supported by Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment and the indicative plan suggest the development will be located on 
the eastern boundary. Based on this evidence they have no objections. 
 
ABC Environmental Health 
 

5.8 No objections subject to conditions re contamination assessment. Accept the 
noise assessment and Geo Environmental Assessment recommendations. 

 
Natural England 

 
5.9 No objection as the proposal will not have significant adverse impacts on 

statutorily protected nature conservation sites or landscapes. Reference is made 
to: the nearest Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), the duty of the authority 
to conserving biodiversity (including restoration/enhancement), standing advice 
on protected species, impact on local wildlife under para 171-174 of the NPPF 
(including scope to improve connectivity)  and recommends records be sought on 
species from local sources. Priority habitats and species are of particular 
importance for nature conservation, with consideration of potential environmental 
value of brownfield sites, including links to the open mosaic habitats inventory, 
reference the importance of public rights of way and access. 

           In reference to Environmental enhancement there is the opportunities for net 
gains in biodiversity as outlined in the NPPF and may include: footpath provision, 
restoration of hedgerow creation of ponds, tree planting, native plants in 
landscaping schemes, use of bat boxes, sympathetic lighting and green roof 
buildings with the adoption of a Biodiversity strategy. 

 
          Cumbria Wildlife Trust 
 
5.10   Object to the application on the grounds of impact on Biodiversity. The applicant’s 

ecological evidence correctly identifies habitats and species present on site. 
However the report considers the small blue butterfly is only of local importance 
but Workington is the only substantial population in the north. Policy S35 should 
therefore apply as the small blue population exists as a meta population of 
smaller sub-populations, which often comprise of a small number of individual 
animals, but exist as part of a larger population which is sustainable at the wider 
scale. Contest the report should therefore consider the population as a whole 
and the mitigation is inadequate with only a limited possibility of sustaining the 
small blue population on the site. The Trust is further concerned that as an 

Page 24



outline application these details may change in the final item and that the 
volunteered mitigation requirements may differ. If approved a more substantial 
mitigation package is required, which positively contributes to the wider small 
blue population to achieve biodiversity gain in alignment with government 
thinking. 

 
 Other representations  

 
5.11 The application was advertised on site and in the press. Four letters of objection 

were received on the grounds of: 
 

a) Advised the council in 2014 opposing any development on this site under 

the local plan by virtue of its impact on butterfly colonies. 

b) The site is not identified as developable in the Allerdale Local plan (Part 2) 

c) The site is a BAP priority habitat. Which is important to a range of 

invertebrates with the applicant surveyors identifying 37 insect species 

including 4 moths/butterflies of national concern. 

d) The report highlights the status of the small blue butterfly has increased 

due to the decline of its colonies with West Cumbria representing the only 

location they can be found north of Gloucester. And confined to coastal 

grasslands in the Workington /Maryport area.(mainly deriving from its 

foodplant- kidney vetch) 

e) The objectors recorded 10 small blues on this site in June 2014 as part of 

an overall siting of 70 small blues along the Lakes road to Chapel bank 

corridor, 38 small blues in the corridor (June 2015) with 2 spotted small 

blues on follow up meetings in May 2018 with the surveys picking up 3 

sightings in the same month and 4 later in the year. The butterfly numbers 

in 2018 reflect those of 2014 (survey evidence provided) 

f) The mitigation offered by the applicant is flawed as a result of; 

 The applicants case that 440sqm of lost habitat is inaccurate which 

should alternatively relate to the whole track bed area (5000 sqm)  

 The mitigation area is very small and the offer of translocation of 

existing good habitat would result in habitat loss 

 Translocation methods have failed in the past and requires a nutrient 

poor based rich soil. Butterfly Conservation Cumbria has better 

management methods  

g) Loss of a significant wildlife corridor  

h) Evidence was provided of the relationship of recorded sightings along the 

railway corridor whose brownfield land is at risk of development with the 

need to maintain connectivity along the corridor  

i) Dispute the proposed wildlife corridor with the isolated colonies lacking 

connectivity with increased risk of extinction. 

j) Proposal is contrary to para 174-177 of the NPPF re conserving and 

enhancing the natural environment in “minimising impacts on and 

providing net gains and the role of wildlife corridors, highlighting “if 

significant harm to biodiversity from a development cannot be avoided, 

adequately mitigated for or at least compensated for planning permission 

should be refused” 

Page 25



k) Impact on other butterfly species –Dingy Skipper, wall and small Heath 

l) Too many fast food outlies in the town. 

m) Some people travel considerable distances to inspect the butterflies. 

n) The ecological assessment update identifies the specific areas to be 

planted with kidney vetch/wildflower within the site but no change to the 

retail unit layout. The proposal will result in the loss of the kidney vetch 

under the car park, with 880sqm to replace 440sqm of the track bed, but 

highlights the objector’s earlier comment that it results in the loss of 

5000sqm of open mosaic habitat, especially the loss of the habitat areas 

of the trackbed. The mitigation area is less than 20% of the habitat lost, 

with only 10% of the railway corridor. The translocation of turves is unlikely 

to work for kidney vetch as it grows on bare substrates, nor is it likely to 

grow on the margins of roads. The proposed small blue management plan 

does not reflect good practice management guidance for small blues 

published by the butterfly conservation group. 

o) The revised report does not address the critical issue of habitat 

connectivity. 

 Therefore concludes parts of the retail assessment should be reappraised. 

There is insufficient width in the proposed replacement corridor for trees 

shrubs as a wildlife corridor. Past records show small blue is found 

throughout this corridor which was damaged by the fast food development 

on the opposite side of Lakes Rd. This will both reduce numbers and 

segregate the colonies on either side of the corridor with the risk that they 

become increasingly isolated and at risk of extinction. Other species will 

also be impacted by the development. 

p) The impact levels on the town centre from the Derwent Howe retail park 

application are 7.9% at 2023, which the councils peer assessor do not 

consider to be a level to be significant for the NPPF, but there is the need 

for a cumulative impact assessment required for the proposals. 

q) The  councils retail study from 2016 highlighted the health of Workington 

town centre had a moderate level of vitality and viability with comparison 

goods offer and accessibility being particular strengths , but also observed 

weaknesses including the quality and range of retail offer, the quality of its 

built environment and some prominent vacant units. The cumulative effect 

of additional retail provision drawing people away from the town centre 

and undertaking linked trips will have an impact on the town centre which 

needs to be understood by the council. 

r) Need for justification that the cumulative impact will not harm the town 

centre.  

 

5.12 The Butterfly Conservation Cumbria Group (BCCG) also object to the 

         application as it is sited on a brownfield habitat which is used by a variety of 

         wildlife (as verified by the applicant’s surveys) mainly as a wildlife 

         connectivity and pollination area as a green corridor within an urban 

         corridor. 

         The site was a private railway line with good breeding colonies of butterflies    

including Small Blue, Dingy Skipper and Wall Brown and following the lines         

Page 26



closure it has become a wildlife sanctuary and although there are no 

substantial breeding colonies it remains a route of connectivity. 

 Removing and transplanting turf is proven not to work on low substrate 

materials such as railway tracks (as exemplified by the replacement bridge 

development at Northside). A wildlife corridor cannot be translocated. 

Damage to this corridor has already occurred through the FFC development 

which will be additionally harmed by this proposal especially if it also 

involves the loss of trees. 

 The proposal therefore conflicts with Policy S24 and S35 of the Allerdale 

local plan and para 174 of the NPPF. 

 In response to the amendments and considers the development does not 

only affect the small blue but other species of insects and animals  with the 

recent count of 156 migrating painted lady butterflies using the route. 

 The letter contests the applicants claims that the development meets the 

tests of para 170 of the NPPF and Policy S35 of the local plan as there is 

no net gain for biodiversity in terms of mitigation as the replacement area 

despite its size supersedes an existing wildlife corridor. 

 In reference to the NPPF and mitigation/compensatory requirements, the 

proposed mitigation is not appropriate as it seeks to create habitat to 

replace an existing habitat. Moving species will not achieve this and the 

proposal will reduce the existing corridor and its function as a connectivity 

corridor. 

 The wildlife corridor has existed over 100 years as a thin strip of natural 

habitat which should be left. 

 Also question the need for another fast food outlet.  

 

In their latest response the BCCG repeat their former reasons for rejecting 

the application, highlighting that the habitat of the site not only relates to the 

small blue, but is a long standing breeding site for a variety of other species. 

Such wildlife corridors should be protected as the loss of one core breeding 

will result in longer term genetic weakness which in turn will lead to 

extinction, with the small blue suffering major setbacks due to loss of key 

breeding habitat, connectivity issues and various forms of anti-social 

behaviour. The ecology update appraisal changes nothing since 2018 and 

threatens another section of the steelworks site which was historically the 

largest concentration of small blues in the U.K, resulting in a loss of 

connectivity to the detriment of site through the loss of trees, wildlife and a 

leisure area used by the public. 

The updated report suggests half the proposed site is brownfield, which the 

group consider should be retained as part of the towns heritage .Given the 

number of species specified in the applicants report questions the 

applicants conclusion the risk to such species is low. 

The mitigation measures proposed are inadequate because there is no like 

for like habitat and the proposal is simply a variation of the same 

connectivity corridor which is already a wildlife area the suggested use of 

kidney vetch plots demonstrates lack of understanding of the species 

Page 27



especially as it relates to an entire urban wildlife corridor which cannot be 

translocated. 

Reference to the NPPF 

‘Habitats and Biodiversity To protect and enhance biodiversity and 

geodiversity, plans should: a) Identify, map and safeguard components of 

local wildlife-rich habitats and wider ecological networks, including the 

hierarchy of international, national and locally designated sites of 

importance for biodiversity; wildlife corridors and steppingstones that 

connect them; and areas identified by national and local partnerships for 

habitat management, enhancement, restoration or creation; 

 b) Promote the conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority 

habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority 

species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable net 

gains for biodiversity. When determining planning applications, local 

planning authorities should apply the following principles: a) if significant 

harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 

(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), b) 

adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning 

permission should be refused   

and  

Section 4.2.3 of the PEAU states and again I quote ‘The grassland present 

along the disused railway tracks and on associated slag supports a mix of 

neutral, acid and more basic flora depending on the substrate. The 

grassland forms a mosaic of vegetation across the Site with bare areas, 

herbrich grassland, rank grassland, tall ruderals, and ephemeral perennial 

species – this is considered to fall under the category of Open Mosaic 

Habitat on Previously Developed Land which is a Biodiversity Action’ 

And, 5.1.6 Priority/UKBAP/Other Species. The Site is considered to be 

Plan Priority Habitat.of local value to priority species such as hedgehog, 

brown hare and common toad, if they are present within the area. The 

species within the grassland provide good quality habitat for foraging 

invertebrates, and therefore the Site is considered to be of local value to 

the invertebrate population. The development has the potential to 

cause direct harm to these species during Site clearance and 

construction.’ 

Therefore questions whether the application addresses these issues 

especially as it destroys its environment. The reference to doubling the area 

lost through mitigation is misleading as it results in the loss of one third of 

the site with no gain in habitat. The development would undermine the 

Groups collaborative works undertaken with Workington nature partnership 

and challenges Cumbria’s pilot role for the Local Nature Recovery Strategy. 

 

6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1  With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environment Impact 

Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development falls into Schedule 2 and, 

following Screening, is not considered to be EIA development. 

Page 28



7.0 Duties 
 

7.1 The development does not affect the setting of listed buildings or Conservation 
Areas. 

 
7.2 It also does not have a significant effect upon a Natura 2000 designation.  
 
8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (2014) Part 1-ALPP1 

8.1 The following policies apply:- 

S1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S2 Sustainable development principles 
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
S4 Design principles 
S5 Development Principles 
S6a Workington  
S16 Town centres and retail 
S22 Transport principles 
S24 Green Infrastructure   
S29 Flood Risk and Surface water drainage 

S30 Reuse of land  

S32 Safeguarding amenity  

S33 Landscaping 

S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

DM7 Town centre development 

DM8 - Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability 
DM14 – Standards of good design 
DM16 - Sequential test for previously developed land. 
DM17 -Trees hedgerows and woodland 

 

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) - ALPP2 

   8.2    The site is within the settlement limits for Workington but is not allocated.  

                           SA2 Settlement Limits 
                           SA52 Protecting and Creating Green infrastructure 
           

            Whilst not directly related to the site, the following policies are also relevant:- 

                           SA46 Retail and Town centres 
                           SA47 Central Car Park Workington  
                           SA48 Royal British Legion            

 

 

Page 29



9.0 Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

9.1 Section 7 of the NPPF is titled ‘Ensuring the vitality of town centres’. 
Paragraph 86 states that planning policies and decisions should support the 
role that town centres play at the heart of local communities. 

 
9.2 Paragraph 80 advises that planning policies and decisions should help create 

the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant 
weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. 

 
9.3            Paragraph 81 advises that planning policies and decisions should help create 

the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant 
weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. 

 
9.4 Paragraph 86 states that local planning authorities should apply a sequential 

test to planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in 
an existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan. Main town 
centre uses should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre 
locations and only if suitable sites are not available (or expected to become 
available within a reasonable period) should out of centre sites be 
considered. 

 
9.5            Paragraph 87 states that local planning authorities should apply a sequential 

test to planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in 
an existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan. Main town 
centre uses should be located in town centres, then in edge-of-centre 
locations and only if suitable sites are not available (or expected to become 
available within a reasonable period) should out-of-centre sites be 
considered. 

 
9.6 Paragraph 88 says that, when considering edge-of-centre and out-of-centre 

proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites that are well 
connected to the town centre.  Applicants and local planning authorities are 
urged to demonstrate flexibility on issues such as format and scale. 

 
9.7            Para 89 states that when assessing applications for retail and leisure 
                 development outside town centres, which are not in accordance with an up- 
                 to-date plan, local planning authorities should require an impact assessment 
                  if the development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if 
                 there is no locally set threshold, the default threshold is 2,500m2 of gross 
                 floorspace). This should include assessment of:  
 

a) the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 

Page 30



 private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the 
proposal; and 

b) the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including 
local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail 
catchment (as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).  

 
9.8 Para 90 states that, when assessing applications for retail and leisure 

development outside town centres which are not in accordance with an up-to 
date plan, local planning authorities should require an impact assessment if 
the development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if 
there is no locally set threshold, the default threshold is 2,500m2 of gross 
floorspace). This should include assessment of:  

           
a) the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 

private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the 
proposal; and 

b) the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including 
local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail 
catchment (as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).  

 
9.9 Paragraph 91 states that, where an application fails to satisfy the sequential 

test or is likely to have significant adverse impacts in terms of the 
considerations set out at paragraph 89, then planning permission should be 
refused. 

 
9.10       Para 170. Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and 
                 enhance the natural and local environment by: 

a)  protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or 
  geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their 

statutory status or identified quality in the development plan); 
b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 

wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including 
the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land, and of trees and woodland; 

c) maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving 
public access to it where appropriate; 

d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including 
by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to 
current and future pressures; 

e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put 
at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable 
levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development 
should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental 
conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant 
information such as river basin management plans; and 

f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated 
and unstable land, where appropriate. 

 
9.11         Para 174 advises – “To protect and enhance biodiversity and 
                geodiversity, plans should: 

Page 31



a) Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats 
and wider ecological networks, including the hierarchy of international, 
national and locally designated sites of importance for biodiversity56; 
wildlife corridors and stepping stones that connect them; and areas 
identified by national and local partnerships for habitat management, 
enhancement, restoration or creation57; and  

b) promote the conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority 
habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority 
species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable 
net gains for biodiversity. 

 
9.12         Para 175. When determining planning applications, local planning 
                authorities should apply the following principles: 

a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be 
  avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful 

impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, 
then planning permission should be refused; 

b) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest, 
 and which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in 

combination with other developments), should not normally be permitted. 
The only exception is where the benefits of the development in the 
location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact on the features 
of the site that make it of special scientific interest, and any broader 
impacts on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 

c) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats 
 (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be 

refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons58 and a suitable 
compensation strategy exists; and 

d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance 
 biodiversity should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate 

biodiversity improvements in and around developments should be 
encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable net gains for 
biodiversity. 

 
9.13         Para 176. The following should be given the same protection as habitats 
                sites: 

a) potential Special Protection Areas and possible Special Areas of 
 Conservation; 
b)  listed or proposed Ramsar sites 59; and 
c)  sites identified, or required, as compensatory measures for adverse 

effects on habitats sites, potential Special Protection Areas, possible 
Special Areas of Conservation, and listed or proposed Ramsar sites. 

 
9.14         Para 177. The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
                apply where the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on a 
                habitats site (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects), 
                unless an appropriate assessment has concluded that the plan or project will 
                not adversely affect the integrity of the habitats site.  
 

Page 32



 9.15         Para 179 advises; “To protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity, 
plans should: 

            
a)  a) Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats 

and wider ecological networks, including the hierarchy of international, 
national and locally designated sites of importance for biodiversity; 
wildlife corridors and stepping-stones that connect them; and areas 
identified by national and local partnerships for habitat management, 
enhancement, restoration or creation; and 

b) promote the conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority 
habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority 
species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable 
net gains for biodiversity.  

c)  Paragraphs 180 & 182 are also relevant to this issue. 
 
West Cumbria Retail, Town Centres and Leisure study (WCRTLS) 2020 
 
9.16 Allerdale and Copeland councils jointly commissioned this study for West 

Cumbria in January 2020. One of the key purposes was to act as the 
evidence base for future development plan policy and land use allocations, 
as well as providing baseline information to assist in the determination of 
planning applications for retail and leisure development. It postdates the 
Retail Study (2015) by 5 years that was part of the evidence base for the 
Local Plan.  

 
9.17 This study is based on an up-to-date household shopping survey, the latest 

population and expenditure data and updated health checks for ten defined 
town centres, including land use surveys.  In addition, the health assessment 

included engagement with key stakeholders to gain views on existing town 
centre strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats; potential 
suggested town centre improvements and retailer/leisure provider 
requirements/needs.  It therefore provides up to date and robust evidence to 
inform the assessment and this officer report. 

  
 Workington Town Centre SPD (March 2021) 
 
9.18 This complements Local Plan policy. It is relevant when assessing available 

town centre sites for their suitability for the applicant’s proposal. 
 
 Workington Town Investments Plan (Oct 2020) 
 
9.19 Workington was invited by Government to develop proposals to support the 

town’s economic growth prospects with a focus on improved transport, 
broadband connectivity, skills and culture. Communities, businesses and 
local groups had the opportunity to help draw up a Town Investment Plan 
which was submitted to Government in October 2020. 

 
9.20 In March 2021 as part of the Government’s budget, it was announced that 

Workington had been successful in securing £23m from the Towns Fund. 
 

Page 33



9.21 The content of the Plan is a material consideration as it informs the 
assessment as to whether certain town centre sites are suitable or available 
for the proposal and indicates what committed or planned investment is 
anticipated. It also informs the weight to be given to the allocation policies in 
the development plan when considering it as a whole. 

 
Allerdale Borough Council Strategy Plan 2020-2030 

 Invest to grow 

 Thriving towns and villages 

      
10.0 Policy weighting 
 
10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 
10.2    The town centre SPD is also a material planning consideration; it is 

supplementary and complementary to the adopted local plan policies. 
 
10.3    The Workington town centre bid is considered a material consideration and is 

viewed as having significant weight, especially as the towns bid was accepted by 
the Government with the expectation that its content and criteria of delivering its 
objectives (some, such as Workington Opera House have already progressed) 

 

11.0 Assessment 
 

Principle of development 
 
11.1 Workington is identified as the Principal Centre in the settlement hierarchy under 

Policy S3 of ALPP1 (2014) and should therefore be the focus for major new 
development. (The application site is located within its defined settlement limits 
under Policy SA2 of ALPP2).This position, and the town’s vitality and viability, is 
to be protected under Policies S2 and S6a. Subject to certain criteria, Policy S5 
indicates that new development will be concentrated within the physical limits of 
such centres, providing that the scale of the development proposed is 
commensurate to the size of the settlement and reflects its position within the 
hierarchy. Where available, and if appropriate, the Council will also encourage 
and prioritise the effective reuse of previously used land and buildings or vacant 
and underused land, as identified by Policies DM16 and S30.  

 
11.2 The policies of ALPP2 have been fully adopted during the course of the 

application and therefore also are of primacy in determining the merits of the 
proposal. 

 
11.3 As an outline application, the merits of the proposal relate to the principle of the 

development at the application site and its context within the adopted local plan 

Page 34



policies. Re-development of this site for the scale of development proposed is 
considered to be commensurate to the size of the settlement and the role of 
Workington as the Principal Centre within the hierarchy, in accordance with 
Policy S5. The use of this site is therefore in accordance with policies S5 and 
S30 of ALPP1. 

 
11.4    The design criteria under Policies S4 and DM14 can be addressed as part of any 

future reserved matter application which will need to account for the bespoke 
physical constraints of the site. 

 
11.5  The application site is located within part of an identified wider area of Green 

Infrastructure along the former railway corridor under Policy SA52 of ALPP2. The 
objectives of this policy is also endorsed under Policy S24 of ALPP1 The policies 
does not preclude development in this area but seeks the enhancement of these 
assets and any wildlife linkages. This derelict site has naturally regenerated and 
is only partially visible to public view on its road frontage onto Derwent Drive and 
Lakes road (plus the cul-de sac footpath). The existing woodland is unmanaged. 
The existing path along the route of the railwayline has no formal status. 

           Members therefore need to evaluate these aspects as part of the individual 
merits of the application. Given the proposed landscape and ecological 
enhancements opportunities through the proposed development works, officers 
consider the principle of the development is acceptable especially when weighed 
alongside its potential economic benefits. 

 
11.6   Furthermore the site’s location is well related to and in close proximity to other 

established retail/commercial units and therefore is compatible with surrounding 
landuses as a progressive expansion of the existing retail park. Therefore subject 
to demonstrating compliance with the retail policy criteria (including the 
sequential test) and any site specific physical constraints the principle of the 
development is acceptable as a sustainable form of retail development. 

 
           Retails planning considerations 
 
11.7   Policy S16 of ALPP1 advises that the Council will promote the vitality and viability 

of town centres within the Plan Area by encouraging a diverse mix of uses in high 
quality environments which attract a wide range of people at different times of the 
day, and which are safe and accessible to all. 

  
11.8    Policy DM7 advises that within town centres, proposals for large scale retail 

development must ensure adequate provision for small scale shops to ensure a 
good mix of retail floorspace, to provide opportunities for independent retailers 
and avoid the dominance of national brands. Support will be provided for uses 
that support the evening economy subject to no adverse impact on the amenity 
of neighbouring landuses. The design of shopfronts should be sympathetic with 
the local area. 

 
11.9    Policy DM8 advises that proposals for main town centre uses will be approved 

within the town centre boundaries. Applications for these uses, or extensions of 
existing uses outside of the defined centres will be refused where the applicant 

Page 35



has not demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site selection 
as set out in national policy. 

    
11.10  Under the retail sequential test criteria Policy S46 of ALPP2 advises that the 

allocated sites in Policies SA47 (central car park) and S48 Royal British Legion 
will be safeguarded for main town centre uses which will support and enhance 
the vitality and viability of the town centre during the plan period. Sites for town 
centre uses outside the allocated sites will be supported subject to compliance 
with policies S16, DM7, DM8 and DM9 and other relevant local plan policies. 

 
11.11 The current submission does not definitively assign specific levels of floorspace to 

each of the titles commercial landuses but alternatively initially sought an open 
option for differing types of commercial landuses (all of which are classed as 
town centre landuses) to facilitate flexibility in the future marketing of the site. As 
a consequence any such review of the retail impact should account for all 
eventuality addressing the options of all convenience or comparison retail 
landuses upto the applications floorspace threshold (2,350 sq.m) The applicant 
has submitted a supporting retail impact and sequential assessment to 
demonstrate the impact of all potential eventualities of these uses on the town 
centre (i.e. worst case scenario’s). 

 
11.12 Members are therefore required to assess whether the impact of the proposed 

retail store, either individually or cumulatively is considered to be appropriate for 
Workington by protecting the vitality and viability of the town centre. The 
applicant’s submitted evidence had to be updated due to material changes in 
circumstances within the duration of the application.  

          These changes include; 
 
           Updated NPPF 2021 
           Adoption of the Allerdale local plan (Part 2) 2020 
           Workington Town centre SPD 
           Workington Town Investment plan  
           Updated West Cumbria retail Town centre and Leisure study 2020  (including 

updated health check especially given the change in circumstances (including 
covid) and consideration of new sequential sites arising in the intervening 
timescale. 

 
           The applicants updated retail evidence details (March 2021) can be summarised 

below. 
 

Sequential Test for town centre uses – context  
 
11.13 Policy S16 advises that the Council will promote the vitality and viability of town 

          centres within the Plan Area by encouraging a diverse mix of uses in high quality 

          environments which attract a wide range of people at different times of the day, 

          and which are safe and accessible to all. The Council will support retail 

          development in accordance with the following hierarchy of centres:- 

 

          Principle Centre: Workington 

          Key Service Centres: Maryport, Cockermouth, Wigton, Silloth, Aspatria 

Page 36



          Local Service Centres – as defined within the settlement hierarchy. 

 

          Policy S16 requires retail development to be located within existing centres and to 

          be of a scale commensurate to the settlement’s role and function, so as to not 

          undermine the settlement hierarchy. Further, Policy S16 requires that proposals 

          for main town centre uses outside of defined centres will be refused where the 

          applicant has not demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site 

          selection, or where there is clear evidence that the proposal would have a 

          significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of a nearby centre.  Policy 

          DM8 stipulates a threshold of 500m2 for Workington for retail development 

          requiring an impact assessment.  

 
11.14 Policy SA46 of the ALPP2 safeguards the Central park site (Policy SA47) and 

Royal British Legion (SA48) for main town centre uses and other uses that will 
support and enhance the vitality and viability of the town centre.  

 
 11.15 The application site is not sited within or adjacent to Workington town centre, but 

remains within the established urban area of the town and its respective 
settlement limits under Policy SA2 of ALPP2. Consequently the proposal would 
be classed as an ‘out of centre’ site for the purposes of assessing section 2 of 
the NPPF and policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan.  

 
11.16 The application is supported by a sequential assessment of other sites within 

Workington which has been expanded upon within the updated version which 
also accounted for the findings of the Council’s initial peer review (April 2019) to 
the original retail assessment.  

 
 Sequential Assessment 

 

11.17  Paragraph 86 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should apply a 

           Sequential Test to planning applications for main town centre uses that are not in 

           an existing centre and are not in accordance with an up-to-date Local Plan. 

           Applications for main town centre uses should be required to be located in town 

           centres, then in edge-of-centre locations and, only if suitable sites are not 

           available, should out-of-centre sites be considered. Paragraph 87 says that 

           when considering edge-of-centre and out-of-centre proposals, preference should 

           be given to accessible sites that are well connected to the town centre. 

           Applicants and local planning authorities are urged to demonstrate flexibility on 

           issues such as format and scale. This is endorsed under Policy DM8 of ALPP1. 

 

11.18 The expanded updated specific alternative sites were considered by the 

           applicant and reasoning provided for dismissing them. This reasoning was not 

           only tested by Council officers but also peer reviewed by a suitably qualified, 

           independent specialist instructed by the Council.  

 

11.19 The merits of each of these bespoke individual sites are examined in the below 

           paragraphs using the scope of a development smaller 1.16ha developable site 

           area. These sequentially preferable sites can be assessed in the context of 

Page 37



           the NPPF parameters of both their suitability and availability (including 

           consideration of the former findings associated with the original survey). 

           The specific alternative sites which were considered by the applicant and 

           reasoning provided for dismissing them is as follows:  

 
           Land at Station Approach  (Adjacent to Travelodge) 
 
11.20 This site had been volunteered for consideration by the peer assessor. This site 

relates to the newly developed Travelodge site. A triangular area of vacant land 
lies to the west of the site. Although the remaining section of the site benefited 
consent for a public house this part of the works has not been implemented and 
the site remains vacant.  

           The applicant concludes that it is not apparent that the site is available nor is it 
sequentially preferable to the proposed site as it does not have material better 
connections to Workington town centre. i.e. not a sequentially preferable site. 

           The peer assessor repeats his earlier view and accepts the applicants views that 
this site is neither available or suitable for the development  

 
           Land at the Cluffocks  
 
11.21 This site was submitted in the original retail impact assessment and was 

dismissed as it was not available and was primarily allocated for alternative uses 
which was accepted by the initial peer assessment. The site is not available for 
sale and unsuitable for the proposed development owing to its scale and 
proposed allocation for alternative uses. The peer assessment concurs with 
these findings. 

 
          Royal British Legion, Jane St, Workington 
 
11.22  Also included in the original retail assessment, but was considered unsuitable 

due to its scale and access and the site is not for sale, which was accepted within 
the initial peer assessment. There is no material change in circumstances with 
the site and it is not being actively marketed with the understanding the British 
Legion presently has no intention to sell the buildings. The peer assessor repeats 
his earlier findings that this site is not available and by virtue of its size is not 
suitable.  

 
          Central Car Park 
 
11.23  The applicant’s initial retail impact assessment at the time of its submission 

concluded that this site was insufficient in size to accommodate the scale and 
form of the development proposed and is unsuitable for a large scale proposal 
due to the proximity to housing. It noted the site was in full use as a car park and 
was not being actively marketed for sale. Although the initial peer assessment 
considered the development could be made available for the proposed 
development within a reasonable period of time and therefore could not be 
dismissed on the grounds of availability, they did agree the site was unsuitable 
for the development owing to its insufficient size. The applicant considers there 
has been no change in circumstances in terms of suitability of the site for the 
proposed development. 

Page 38



 
           However, on balance, it was considered the site was not suitable for the type of 

commercial development that would be delivered at the application site. i.e.  
assuming it would alternatively likely comprise a number of smaller, freestanding 
units serving a ‘roadside’ location and potentially including a drive-through 
restaurant. The peer assessor thus took the previous view that the Central Car 
Park site would alternatively be more suited to the development of fewer, larger 
units, prompting a recommended planning condition to restrict the size and/or 
number of the commercial units at the application site. (This was predicated on 
the basis that the development would likely be implemented to reflect the original 
indicative drawings). 

              Since this initial assessment, Central Car Park site has now been allocated for 
main town centre uses within the Local Plan (Part 2). The peer assessor’s 
updated opinion is that the proposed development at the application site is likely 
to comprise fewer, larger commercial units that might not be dependent on the 
visibility provided by a roadside location. The peer advisor states that 
notwithstanding this, since the time of our previous advice, we have been 
advised by the Council that it is progressing proposals for an Innovation Centre at 
the Central Car Park site as part of its Workington Town Investment Plan (WTIP) 
of October 2020. The WTIP (at Map 6.3) shows that the Innovation Centre will be 
located to the north of the existing car park, occupying around a third (or around 
0.3 ha) of the wider site. It is understood funding has now been secured for this 
development and correspondence has been observed confirming that this part of 
the site is currently unavailable for alternative developments. 

              The peer assessor understands that proposals for the southern part of the 
Central Car Park site are less well advanced but that this area is expected to 
deliver mixed use development, including a residential element that is 
complementary to the Innovation Centre. The Workington Town Centre SPD 
states that the wider site is expected to be developed in a comprehensive 
manner and that new development should contribute positively to urban grain. 
Whilst it would be possible to develop a number of freestanding commercial units 
on the southern part of the site for retail and food/drink uses (potentially providing 
a similar amount of floorspace to the application scheme) we do not consider that 
such development would meet the current aspirations of the Town Centre SPD or 
WTIP which appear to encourage higher density development, for example 
ground floor commercial units with residential development above. The 
application scheme proposes development for commercial uses only. On 
balance, the peer assessor therefore is of the view that this site is unsuitable for 
the proposed development. 

          Further to the peer assessment officers have been advised by the council that 
this site is not available.   

 
          Fusion night club 
 
11.24 This represents an edge of town centre location to the North East of the town’s 

primary shopping area. The unit was vacant prior to its fire in 2020. The site area 
is approx. 0.11ha and therefore is physically too small to accommodate the 
development even on a flexible basis i.e. not suitable for the development. 
Furthermore its suitability is further hindered due the potential of the split level of 
any unit and lack of road frontage. 

Page 39



          The peer assessor considers that given the size of the site, its constrained access 
and the design principles set out for this site in the SPD, this site is accepted as 
being unsuitable. 

 
           Former Debenhams, Washington Square shopping centre. 
 
11.25 This store is vacant following it being wound down after any reopening after 

lockdown. The site is therefore likely to be available in the next couple of months. 
Its site area is 0.21ha, which is below the applicants minimum required 1.2ha site 
area. Therefore the site area and its split levels are not considered suitable for 
the development. 

 
          The peer assessor observes that the site is not yet on the open market but is 

likely to become available within a reasonable period of time. The unit currently 
provides floorspace of approximately 7,215 sq. m over four levels, exceeding that 
proposed at the application site and so this site cannot be discounted on the 
basis of its size alone. Washington Square’s agents have confirmed that the 
landlord would consider subdivision of the Debenhams unit either for retail uses 
or retail at ground floor and alternative uses on upper floors. It is therefore 
possible that this site could accommodate the proposed development without the 
need for the disaggregation of the application scheme. The peer assessor notes 
that the application seeks permission for unrestricted retail and food/drink use 
with no specific operational requirements. The large amount of modern retail 
floorspace available at the former Debenhams store would be suitable for a 
range of different operators, including most types of comparison retailer and food 
and drink uses. We recognise that this site would be less suitable for the 
operation of a larger foodstore or for the sale of bulky goods, both of which are 
likely to rely on access to adjacent car parking. Nevertheless, given that the 
application scheme seeks permission for unrestricted uses, including uses which 
evidently could be accommodated at the former Debenhams, the peer assessor 
cannot conclude that the site is unsuitable. However it considers the sequential 
test would be satisfied if it was restricted for the sale of bulky goods as the 
Debenhams site would be unsuitable for this retail activity. 

         
  The former Workington Opera House, Pow Street/Tiffin Lane  
 
11.26  This building had been vacant since 2004 when last used as a Bingo Hall. A prior 

approval application for it demolition (DEM/2021/0001) had been submitted 
approved and implemented with future uses unknown but is not being actively 
marketed. Its site area is 930sqm on a site area of 0.09ha which is below the 
applicant’s minimum 1.2ha site area. Thus the site cannot be accommodated on 
the site which was accepted in the initial peer review. 

           The peer assessor accepts this site is too small for the proposed development 
and therefore is unsuitable, especially as it’s also understood from the 
Workington Town Investment plan that it is to be used as a Pocket park. 

 
           Other units 
 
11.27 The applicant former retail assessment identified 27 vacant units ranging in size 

form 30-930sqm  the scheme identified that even the largest unit could not be 

Page 40



accommodated without substantially altering the scheme and therefore such 
units would be unlikely to provide suitable alternatives to the application site and 
were unaware of any other larger vacant units in the town centre. 

          The latest Experian Goad plan for Workington suggests 31 vacant units 
(excluding Debenhams) varying in size from 30-1720sqm (although this largest 
option- 3 Washington Square is at first floor level). Given the previous comments 
the only potential vacant unit is the item at 3 Washington Square which was not 
vacant at the time of the earlier initial assessment. The other units are discounted 
as unsuitable. The applicant contests the vacant unit represents only 75% of the 
total floorspace of the proposed development. The minimum site area required is 
1.2ha whereas the unit measures just 0.17ha the unit cannot therefore physically 
accommodate the proposed development and therefore is not suitable.  

 
          The peer assessment refers to the unit at 3 Washington Square (1,720 sqm). This 

site is 25% smaller than that of the applicant’s proposal and therefore is deemed 
unsuitable.  

 
11.28 The applicants sequential evidence overall concludes there are no sequentially 

preferable sites that are available or suitable to accommodate the proposed 
development. Therefore in the context of para’s 86 and 87 of the sequential test 
there are no preferable sites within or on the edge of the town centre.  

  
 The applicant considered that there were no sites within or on the edge of the 

town centre that would be available, suitable or viable to accommodate the 
quantum of the proposed development. Vacant units within the town centre were 
considered to be too small for the proposed development. 

 
11.29 The peer assessor has also undertaken their own separate search of vacant sites  

with no additional sites identified. Unless the aspect relating to the Debenhams 
store relating to comparison goods is addressed, the proposal does not comply 
with the sequential test. 

 
Retail Impact Assessment  
 

11.30 Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that when assessing applications for retail and 

           leisure development outside of town centres which are not in accordance with an 

           up-to-date Local Plan, local planning authorities should require an impact 

           assessment if the development is over a proportionate, locally set threshold. 

           Where there is no locally set threshold then the default threshold is 2,500 sq. m. 

           Impacts should be considered in terms of impact on existing, committed and 

           planned public and private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment 

           area of the proposals and the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and 

           viability (as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).  

 

11.31 Further to complying with the sequential approach, an impact assessment may 

          also be required for certain proposals outside of a defined town centre to assess 

          the full extent of potential adverse impacts upon the existing town centres.  

          Proposals for retail, leisure or office development above thresholds specified in 

          Policy DM8 will require an impact assessment if it exceeds 500m2.    

Page 41



 
11.32  The applicant has reviewed and updated the evidence of his initial assessment. 
           Reference is made to the initial peer review of this earlier assessment which 

concluded that it was not considered the proposed development would give rise 
to significant adverse impacts on either the town centre vitality or viability or in-
centre investment. The previous peer assessment accepted the three scenario’s 
tested (including worst case), with the scenario to comparison turnover being 
robust but that convenience retail floorspace could trade 50% higher than in the 
retail impact assessment. It accepted: appropriate methods for estimating the 
turnover of existing destination had been adopted, consideration had accounted 
for the mixed use developments at Siddick Rd and Unit 7 of Derwent Howe retail 
park and that their turnover of committed scheme could be slightly higher than in 
the assessment and that the applicants trade diversion and impact assessment 
figures in the report were robust, even if sale densities achieved for convenience 
floorspace were 50% higher than assumed in the retail assessment, impacts on 
the convenience turnover of the town centre would still likely be low and any 
trade diversion from Maryport would likely be low. 

 
           In addition the applicant confirms the former peer review advised they were 

unaware of any committed or in-centre developments that would be adversely 
affected by the proposals and consequentially there would be no significant 
adverse impacts form the development. The former peer report also advised any 
cumulative impacts on Workington town centre 4.3%-7.9% would be unlikely to 
give rise to significant impacts, and the element of the A3/A5 would likely be an 
ancillary role.  

 
           In reviewing the evidence the applicant also re-evaluated the health of the town 

centre. It advised that the number of vacant units (31 units-13%of total ) The 
revised report stated that despite the Covid -19 pandemic lockdown, the 
compassion goods sector (40%) of the town centre remains strong and is above 
the national average (32%). However its alternative 6% convenience floorspace 
is below the national average figure (15%) reflecting the limited convenience 
goods provision in the town centre. 

 
           Reference is also made to the health check made in the 2020 West Cumbia 

Retail, Town centres and Leisure study which comparable to that of the 
applicants study. In addition the footfall was considered reasonable in the main 
streets in the summer 2020 (post lockdown) and higher than that in 2019 with a 
hopefully similar revival expected after the current lockdown. Therefore despite 
the pandemic Workington town centre continues to be reasonably vital and 
viable. 

 
          The applicant in responding to whether there are any existing committed planned 

public and private investment in the centre in the catchment of the proposal, 
refers to the original assessment that no such works exist which could be 
adversely impacted by the proposal. There is awareness of the retails 
commitments at unit 7 Derwent Howe and the works at Siddick Road opposite 
Dunmail Park but as these are similarly out of town centre locations they are 
excluded in assessing the impact of investment. As before no other known 

Page 42



developments were observed which require reconsideration in the updated 
details. (thus complying with the first part of the NPPF’s requirements). 

 
          The review also assessed the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and 

viability, including local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and its 
wider catchment area. The applicant repeated the same methodology approach 
used in the original survey, but has accounted for the 2020 RTL study (Zone 5).  

           A base year of 2020 is adopted with a design year of 2025, and a price Base of 
2018 which accords with the retail study. 

          The turnover of existing convenience and comparison retails stores is taken from 
the 2020retail study (calculated by multiplying the net sales floorspace by the 
latest available average benchmark sales density for the store) increasing the 
previous convenience sales density figure in response to the evidence provided 
in the original peer assessment. 

 
          The same 3 scenarios were retained as before:  

(i) All floorspace comparison (non-food)  
(ii) All floorspace convenience (food) 
(iii) 50/50 split convenience/comparison 

 

Page 43



The estimated turnover was as follows; 
 

 
 
          The applicant advises this demonstrates the comparison turnover will be approx. 

£9.7m and £16.3m for convenience in 2025. In reference to the third scenario the 
turnover would be £4.8m convenience /£8.1m convenience in 2025 

 
          The assessment also refers to the commitments likely turnover at Siddick road 

and Derwent Howe Retail Park (TkMaxx (no other commitments were identified) 
 
           These turnovers were estimated as being £11.4m at 2020 rising to £14.3m by 

2025 for the Siddick road commitment and £5.1m at 2020 rising to £6.4m by 
2025 for the TK Maxx commitment i.e. cumulatively totalling £20.7m at 2025. 

 
           Furthermore assessments were also calculated for turnovers under no 

development scenario’s using the turnover of destinations including Carlisle city 
centre and Cockermouth town centre. The 2020 retail study demonstrates the 
principle comparison retail destination for residents in the study area is 
Workington Town centre which is estimated to capture some £141.1m of 
comparison goods expenditure in 2021, with the primary principle convenience 
destinations being Tesco, New Bridge Rd, followed by Morrison’s at Derwent 
drive 

 
           The updated retail assessment also addressed trade diversions to the application 

scheme which considered the likely impact on stores/destinations (both within 
and beyond the catchment in 2025) 

           The extent of assumed diversions from Workington Town centre to the 
commitments and proposal is summarised as follows; 

 

            
 
          The applicant highlights that it is important to acknowledge the existing shopping 

patterns of residents in the catchment area, a high proportion of comparison 
trade will be diverted from out of centre destinations such as Dunmail Park and 

Page 44



Derwent Drive alongside the town centre, whereas the convenience trade will be 
principally diverted form out of town convenience stores. 

 
           The applicant highlights the original peer assessment findings that cumulative 

trade impacts (between 4.3-7.9%) would be unlikely to generate significant 
adverse impacts and the impact on the town centre in the town centre remains no 
higher than previously accepted, with minor percentage totals from all three 
scenarios. 

 
          The applicant contests the revised report arrives at the same conclusion that the 

modest trade impacts on the town centre will not be at a level which would result 
in a significant adverse impact. 

 
          Reference is made to the optional A3/A5 landuses in the applications, but 

consider any such landuses will have an ancillary role with no significant adverse 
impacts on the town centre. 

 
          The updated report concludes referring to the need for updating the original 2018 

report and the publication of the recent retail study. 
          However it concludes its findings in terms of the sequential test are the same with 

no sequentially preferable available or suitable sites which could accommodate 
the development. 

          The updated evidence also contests that the development would not have any 
significant adverse impact on any existing, committed or planned investment in 
the defined centres or on the vitality and viability of Workington’s town centre.  

           
11.33  The peer retail assessment reviewed the details in the context of para 89 of the 

NPPF. It concluded the updated assessment of impacts at 2025 is considered 
reasonable. All the three separate scenarios were examined. 

 
11.34  The potential retail turnover’s increased figures for convenience sales densities 

reflect the peer assessors original comments are considered realistic. This 
results in an estimated turnover of between £9.7m and £16.3m depending on the 
scenario. Account has been made for the permitted schemes at Siddick Rd and 
TK Maxx. 

 
11.35  The estimated town centre turnover figures are also considered more realistic 

reflecting the WCRTCLS 2020. The anticipated patterns of trade diversions are 
also considered broadly appropriate. 

 
11.36 Cumulative trade impacts on the town centre range between 3.8%(scenario 2 –all 

convenience ) and 6.5% (scenario 1 –all comparison) which are below the initial 
assessment’s figures 4.3%-7.9% but this arises from a higher estimated retail 
turnover of the town centre based on the more up to date findings of the 
WCRTLS. The peer assessor however emphasises the potential impact of the 
pandemic on the town centre (including the recent closure of the Debenham’s 
store and therefore current circumstances should be accounted for when 
assessing the proposed forecasts). 

 

Page 45



11.37  The peer assessor acknowledges that the number of vacant units in the town 
centre is in line with the national average, with higher than national average 
vacancies for comparison stores. The proportion of convenience units in the town 
centre is below the national average. It is also observed the footfall, despite the 
pandemic increased from 2019 to 2020. 

 
11.38  The peer assessor acknowledged the submitted updated health check, but states 

it’s difficult to assess the impacts on the leisure and retail impacts (including the 
town centre). In the short term it appears that lockdown has accelerated online 
shopping growth placing extra strain on town centres. The loss of Debenhams 
anchor store will result in a large prominent vacant unit potentially reducing 
footfall in the town centre. However the period of this stores vacancy is uncertain. 
If so the vacant floorspace will increase form 14% to 28% which may have 
negative impacts on footfall and investor confidence in the town centre plus 
turnover (although the latter may be displaced to other town centre traders.) 

 
11.39  Overall in the short term the town centre will be more vulnerable to trade impacts, 

than previously considered, but acknowledge that the percentage trade impacts 
are likely to be lower than previously estimated in the next five years. On balance 
it is considered that the development is unlikely to have significant adverse 
impacts on the town centre (subject to controls to mitigate impacts) 

 
 Retail/town centre impact summary  
 
11.40 Members are advised that the applicant’s sequential and retail impact 

assessments have been robustly reviewed by the peer reviewer. Their advice 
corroborates the findings of the assessment and, as such, officers advise that the 
application accords with policies S16 and DM8 of the adopted Local Plan as well 
as the provisions of the NPPF, including paragraphs 86, 87 and 89.  

 
11.41 In response to the peer assessors comments it is considered necessary 

especially as a speculative outline proposal with no specific trader, specific retail 
planning conditions are essential for comparison retail units to demonstrate 
compliance with the sequential test with the availability of Debenham’s. This 
would restrict such convenience goods to bulky items which would not be 
suitable for the comparison goods at the vacant Debenhams site as there would 
be the need for close accessibility to parking facilities. (The applicant has agreed 
to this amended criteria.) 
 
Design/ Landscaping 

 
11.42 Policy S4, S5 and DM14 seek the delivery of a satisfactory standard of design. 
          The application as submitted is an outline with only the reserved matter of access 

to be considered. 
           However it was also acknowledged that the site does have some defined 

constraints with the existence of the protected TPO treebelt along the eastern 
perimeter of the site and the known recorded presence of butterfly habitat along 
the corridor of the railway line itself. 

 

Page 46



11.43  As a consequence the applicant had identified a plan identifying a developable 
area for the site excluding more sensitive parts in the site and where applicable 
safeguarding sections of the site for mitigation purposes. Although layout remains 
an outstanding reserved matter, officers consider this plan is material to the 
application and therefore is considered in detail as part of the merits of the 
principle of the development. 

          The additional issues relating to appearance scale and landscaping (whilst 
retaining the landscaping area in the non-developable areas can be addressed 
as part of any future reserved matter application. 

 
          However the existing landscaping merits of the established planting on the site no 

doubt contributed to the sites inclusion under the designation SA52 re green 
infrastructure which are entwined along corridors within the Derwent Howe estate 
mainly along the former routes of the railway lines. This policy does not exclude 
development within these areas but seeks to ensure they retain and indeed their 
landscape and ecology potential. Officers consider these aspects can be secured 
by planning conditions. 
 
Ecology  

 
11.44  Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to protect the biodiversity of sites 

and safeguard the habitat of any protected wildlife species. The applicant 
acknowledges the biodiversity value of the site and there both an ecology report 
and more specifically an entomology report was submitted with the application. 
The inclusion of the butterfly assessment was direct result of known past 
recordings of small blue butterflies along this corridor especially as its unmade 
ground provided an environment for the growth of kidney vetch which acts as the 
foodplant for the small blue larvae. 

            
          Policy SA52 also incorporates ecology as part of its objectives for any new 

development within its designated areas of Green infrastructure.   
 
11.45  The application is supported by a range of separate ecology reports. 
 

(i) Ecological appraisal 
 
11.46  The applicants overarching ecology impact assessment report relates to Phase 1 

habitat surveys undertaken in Dec 2017 and a botanical check in Aug 2018 (to 
identify areas of kidney vetch) - plus reference to an earlier survey in July 2015. 

 
          The nearest designations are the River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake SAC 

and SSSI (1.8km) as well as Siddick Pond SSSI (1.6km) which is also designated 
as a nature reserve. Given these separation distances with no linkages it is 
unlikely the proposed works would impact these designations. 

           Additional County wildlife sites are located at Oldside (1.8km) and Barepot (2km) 
           It was acknowledged that there is one UKBAP priority habitat within the site 

boundary and five others within 2km. 
 
          The applicant’s assessment concluded the vegetation at the site, with no 

watercourse within 500m was not suitable for Otter, Water vole or White clawed 

Page 47



crayfish. No records of greater crested newts are within 1km with no ponds within 
500m. 

          The sites plantation woodland is suitable for nesting birds (less than local value), 
with no evidence of, or suitable habitat for barn owls with low foraging potential. 

          There are no records of badgers at the site or within 1km with unsuitable ground 
conditions for setts with built development not being suitable for badgers to the 
east, although is possible that foraging may occur from any possible badgers 
from the west (less than local value) . 

           Similarly no records of red squirrels within 1km and the habitat is not suitable for 
this species but may possibly act as a commuting route (less than local value).  

           Reference was made to the possible use of the site for foraging by hedgehogs 
and common toads have been recorded within 0.5km of the site (albeit no 
suitable ponds for breeding) (less than local value) 

          There was potential for bat, butterfly and reptile habitat and these were the 
subject of separate surveys. 

          The Phase 1 acknowledges the December survey was not able to address 
vegetation. Given the lack of habitat management it is not envisaged there will 
have been any significant change since the original 2015 survey. 

          The report refers to both short term impacts (during and post construction) and 
longer term impacts (permanent loss of habit and disturbance e.g. lighting). 

          The report initially recommends possible off site compensation, but this has been 
modified through plan excluding habitat islands/ corridors from the developable 
areas. 

 
          Mitigation measures are recommended for bats and reptiles. 
          The small blue butterfly will be the subject of a botanical survey with the careful 

stripping of identified turfs containing kidney vetch during the construction period 
and the adoption of a Small Blue management plan (protecting an area at the 
north of the site. Felling operations will be undertaken outside bird breeding 
season. Existing Invasive species on the site (including Japanese Knotweed) will 
be removed. 

 
          The report concludes the sites mixed deciduous woodland on a colonised area of 

the rail track and sidings which is recorded in the BAP priority habitats Inventory, 
with all habitats are likely to be lost due to the development. 

          Protected and notable species likely to use the site include Invertebrates; Small 
blue, Dingy skipper, Wall, Small Heath and Grayling butterfly and Cinnabar moth, 
retiles e.g. common lizard, bat species and red/amber bird species. 

 
          Given the above details some species required their own bespoke surveys. 
          (The report acknowledges its findings only are relevant for a 1 year timescale.) 
 

(ii) Reptiles 
 
11.47 A reptile survey was undertaken (May –Sept 2018) did not identify any reptiles at 

the site, with reference that there may be disturbance arising from dog walkers 
using the informal footway. However it acknowledges the potential for reptiles on 
the site. E.g. common lizard and therefore recommends a range of mitigation 
measures (e.g. during clearance) to address this issue. 

 

Page 48



(iii) Bats  
 
11.48  A dawn /dusk bat survey was also undertaken (April-Sept 2018) at two differing 

locations on the site. Seven bat recordings occurred in May survey, ten and 
seven in two separate surveys in June, seventeen in July 11 in August and thirty 
one in September.  The surveys however suggests the roosts are unlikely at the 
site. 

          The report concludes that the overall 45 sightings over 60 nights (both dawn 
/dusk and remote monitoring is considered to be low level activity and the site is 
primarily used as a foraging corridor. it is therefore considered of low value to bat 
species but there would be impacts during construction and long term. The 
significance of the impact is considered to be low and a range of mitigation 
measures is recommended. 

 
(iv)  Entomology  

 
11.49  An entomology survey was also undertaken to identify what type of insect 

species are present at the application site. It comprised of four surveys between 
May August 2018. (plus a separate kidney vetch survey in 2019 to identify the 
extent of this plant food on the site)  

           During these surveys there were recordings of 15 butterfly species, 11 day flying 
moths and 11 bees /wasps with no dragonflies /damselflies. These included the 
Small blue (9 sightings), Small heath (32 sightings), Shaded broad bar (4 
sightings) and Cinnabar (4 sightings which are recorded Biodiversity framework 
priority species and/or Species on Cumbria Biodiversity Action Plan. 

 
11.50  Reference is made to each species:  
 

 Small blue – this species has gone into severe long term decline and is well 
suited to brownfield sites where the caterpillar’s sole food plant kidney vetch 
grows. West Cumbria is the only place where it can be found north of 
Gloucester. The species is coming under pressure with the redevelopment 
of brownfield sites. The May 2018 found two small areas of kidney vetch, 
with additional recordings in the same areas in July/August. The extent of 
kidney vetch has declined substantially in recent years , with the former 
2015 survey indicating it was abundant along the railway line in the 2015 
survey, with the botanical survey 2018 finding no kidney vetch(although it 
might have been outgrown by other species. 

 Small heath identified as a priority species following long term decline and 
is nationwide. The land at the application site is suitable habitat with its 
larvae feeding on a range of grasses and vegetation some of which is 
present on the site. 

 Dingy Skipper – Priority species found mainly on coastal grasslands and 
brownfield sites. Although suitable habitat none were recorded. 

 Shaded broad bar Priority species with this moth being commonly 
distributed across the county. Some of this species was recorded at the 
site. 

 Cinnabar – biodiversity Framework priority y species and BAP species 
moth, common species nationwide and in coastal locations in Cumbria 
(including areas around the port of Workington, disused railway lines and 

Page 49



around the former steelworks often on fragmented brownfield sites. The 
habitat is focused on open grassland including waste ground. 

 
11.51   Given the above details it was concluded the site was of County value for its 

insects especially butterfly communities. The study assed the assessment of 
effects from the proposed works with the worst case scenario being the loss of 
the species their habitat food plants and nectar resources, with their 
displacement being highly precautionary. However the populations of the 
grassland specialist species (Small blue, Small heath, Shaded broad bar and 
Cinnabar) would be lost from the site due to the loss of habitat and food unless 
mitigation/ compensation is provided. Thus the development without any 
migration would have a major adverse impact, particularly on the Small Blue 
population. 

 
11.52 The applicant is committed to improving the ecological value of the site and 
          the disused railway lines which support the small blue butterfly. 
          The applicant therefore proposes mitigation measures which would also 
          benefit the other priority butterfly/moth species. 
          The mitigation will include – The identification and stripping of any identified 
          kidney vetch through a botanical survey prior to the commencement of 
          construction works to enable them to be stripped as turfs during Feb/March) 
          During the operational use of the site an area to the north where small blue 
          and kidney vetch were identified will be cordoned off to protect this habitat. 
          This 888sqm gravel bed. This supersedes the area to be lost 444sqm by a 
          ratio of two to one site will the subject of a small blue management. 
          Plan (including surveys transfer of turfs replanting of grassland habitat 
          including kidney vetch, create a more open grassland environment for the 
          butterflies. 
 
11.53 It was evident to officers that the site did contain important insect species. 

However, the applicant was indicating a decline in Kidney Vetch on the site 
between the 2015 and 2018 species. There were also detailed objection and 
representation issues to this specific aspect of the development. Therefore in 
order to evaluate this aspect in greater detail the Council commissioned their own 
independent butterfly survey in 2019. 

  
11.54 The survey was undertaken on six occasions between May and August 2019 
          and examined the wider disused railway corridor of the site between Lakes Road 
          and Isabella Road to ascertain the mobility of the species and their relative value 
          rather than solely confine it to the site, especially considering the absence of any 
          barriers along the corridor. 
 
11.55 The peer report concurs that the development, in the absence of linkages, would 
          impact on the river Derwent SAC designation, nor Siddick ponds SSSI. 
          The closest locality designated site is Oldside County Wildlife site (approx. 1km 
          north) which is known to support kidney vetch and one of the largest populations 

of small blues species. Given the absence of linkages it is not considered to have 
any impact on the designation but it is not certain that the development of the site 
would not impact on rare, scarce an protected species present on both the 
railway corridor and the Oldside CWS. 

Page 50



 
11.56 The report refers to the recorded evidence of identifying the presence of rare 
          species in former survey with 219 sightings of rare species within 1km. The 
          historic records of the sites suggest the presence of this corridor since at least 
          1866, with the railway removed sometime after 2008. 
. 
11.57 The assessment also refers to its multitude of habitats along the corridor 

 including the open grassland along the track bed with no formal management. 
The most important of this is the open mosaic habitat which is within previously 
developed land which are often important for many BAP priority /red data list 
species. Kidney vetch was identified within the application site. 

 
11.58 The surveys identified 18 butterfly species 4 of which are Biodiversity Framework 
           and Cumbria Biodiversity Action plan species: Dingy Skipper, Wall Small Blue 
 and Small heath, with the additional high levels of Painted lady 
           
11.59  The outcome of the peer surveys were: 
           Dingy skipper- total 20 along entire length of the corridor (including on the 

application site confirming its habitat abundant vegetation food species) 
           Wall butterfly- total 12 with one recorded on the application site confirming its 

habitat.-abundant vegetation food species  
           Small Blue -total 86, 3 within the application site (including a mating pair). Kidney 

vetch has a patchy distribution with occasional patches with some established 
patches (10sqm) within the boundary of the application site (where the mating 
Small blue butterflies were observed (a higher level of kidney vetch exists on 
other parts of the corridor- habitat supports breeding population of these species. 

           Small heath- total 25, seen throughout the survey area including the application 
site –recoded as suitable habitat for this species. 

 
11.60  The peer report highlights these four species have been in decline 1976 -2014 in 

occurrence with their abundance in these areas also decreasing with only the 
small blue experiencing a subtle increase. The report considers the small blue is 
the most specialised species which is dependent on its larvae feeding on kidney 
vetch which is common along the railway ballast. Although this vegetation can 
quickly colonise bare ground it can be overshadowed if not managed. 

           The report also highlights small blues are weak fliers (assumed average 
dispersal distance 200m and fly close to the ground but there are records of 
762m flights., thus they will, especially with the presence of the woodland not 
disperse out of the railway corridor, especially as there are no barriers along the 
route.) 

          The report highlights the provision of a butterfly mitigation strategy for the 
Persimmon housing development on the former steelworks, which was 
implemented at the northern end of the access corridor. The subsequent 
development of a fast food restaurant has resulted in a 380m gap between the 
managed mitigation site steelworks and the steelworks site hindering connectivity 
and despite the absence of any barriers movement is unlikely along the route of 
a road. 

          The report also refers to additional experimental butterfly mitigation works 
undertaken as part of the Workington railway station development which involved 
the provision of scrapes on northern and southern ends of the Howe (Workington 

Page 51



slag banks ) which were seeded with Kidney with mixed results which whilst the 
extent of kidney vetch becoming established was limited prompting no 
translocation of butterflies to the  planted area, they were naturally were 
colonised by the small blue from the railway corridor linkages. The report 
considers that if the connectivity is lost the linkages along the line and the Howe 
would be lost which may lead to genetic isolation and inbreeding depression. 

          The existence of Kidney vetch within the site is a vital stepping stone providing a 
north south link. The loss of such connectivity would be contrary to chapter 15 of 
the NPPF and policy S35 of the local plan. 

 
(v) Ecological appraisal update 

 
11.61  As a result of the assessment of the various constraint of the development, it 
           became evident that the original ecological appraisal evidence was out of date. 
           Officers therefore sought an update which was submitted in July 2021(which 
           represents a more preferable season than the original) 
 
           It concluded the original survey mitigation measures remain valid. The trees 
           should be preferably be retained and the replanting around the perimeter will 
           ensure that wildlife linking habitat will be recreated, plus wildflower planting. 
           Additional mitigation via bat boxes, tree protection plan, siting and species of 
           planting, lighting controls, methodology to treat any reptile species identified 
           during works, site cut to a short sward in the first year prior to the 
           commencement of works. In reference to invertebrates botanical survey to 
           identify and transplant any turfs of kidney vetch, and a small blue management 
           plan to protect the existing northern colony and preplacement perimeter corridor 
           sites, plus surveys prior to construction, agreement of vegetation species for the 
           replacement strip (ensuring stepping stones of kidney vetch and scrub removal. 
           Furthermore the felling works should be undertaken outside the bird breeding 
           season (March –September), plus replacement bird boxes. The works should be 
           undertaken in accordance with good practice. 
 
           It concludes that the site is a narrow band of lowland mixed deciduous woodland 
           which provides landscaping and open mosaic habitat on the previously 
           developed land of the railway track. These are on the UK BAP priority habitats 
           inventory and are primarily of interest for the species they support. All habitats 
           are likely to be affected lost as a result of the development. The 2021 are 
           comparable to those recommended in 2018 and the measures in the other 
           species reports remain valid. 
 
11.62  Officers acknowledge the importance of these environmental considerations to 

the development which as to be balanced alongside the economic benefits 
associated with the works. 

           Under the criteria of the NPPF whilst the emphasis is normally to avoid such 
impacts in this case it is considered unavoidable due to the irregular linear shape 
of the site with the railway corridors themselves forming distinctive separate 
central lines through the site. Furthermore the limited and patchy nature of the 
kidney vetch would hinder the means to develop around it. 

          The applicant has therefore sough to provide alternative on-site compensatory 
measures through the securing of an area at the northern end of the site which 

Page 52



will be free of development and under the small blue management plan which 
could  enhance its value The applicant in response to the comments relating to 
connectivity has amended the scheme to provide definitive corridor down the 
western side of the site and island area within the site to enable continued 
migration through the site (which reasonably represents the only areas within the 
applicants control. These areas are excluded from the applications developable 
area and will be integrated within the layout details of any future reserved matters 
application.(the council are investigating any potential breaches on the KFC site 
which undermine connectivity along the corridor.)  

           Whilst the peer assessor has verbally advised that he would seek the 
implementation and delivery of these areas well in advance of any development 
officers consider this would be unreasonable as it may hinder the long term 
delivery of the site. 

 
           Officers attach weight that Natural England do not object to the merits of the 

scheme. Whilst reference is made to the need of biodiversity gain, the recent 
Environmental Bill allows for a transitional period for long standing applications 
thus only compensatory measures are only sought at this stage - to be secured 
under the conditioned biodiversity plan and landscaping details. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage  

 
11.63  Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to ensure satisfactory surface water 

drainage details and minimise the risk of flooding. 
 
11.64 The site is located in Flood Zone 1, the zone at least probability of flooding from 

rivers and the sea and, sequentially, the preferred location for development. 
 
11.65 For surface water drainage, ground conditions are not suitable for infiltration and 

this discharge method is considered to be the most appropriate and accords with 
the drainage hierarchy detailed in policy S29 and the NPPF. 

 
Contamination 

 
11.66  Policy S30 outlines the criteria for the reuse of land which includes addressing 

any contamination.  
 
11.67  The application was supported by a ground investigation report including a 

preliminary ground investigation report. The Coal Authority also raise no 
objections based on the original plan (confirmation is awaited on the amended 
developable area plan) Allerdale’s Environmental Health Officer raise no 
concerns on this issue. The proposal therefore complies with policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 

 
Residential Amenity 

11.68  Policy S32 seeks to ensure that the residential amenity of communities is 
maintained to an appropriate level. 

 

Page 53



11.69  The application site is located in a predominantly commercial /industrial sector of 
the town which is a substantial distance from residential districts. Given this 
separation distance and the nature of the proposed landuses proposed it is 
considered the proposed works would not have any adverse impact on 
residential amenity (The Environmental Health officer raises no objections on this 
issue and is solely concerned in addressing any contamination on the site.) 

 
Access and Parking 
 

11.70  Policy S22 outlines the criteria of transport principles seeking sustainable 
objectives i.e. improving travel choice and trips by non-car modes but securing 
satisfactory means of access, parking and turning for both public and commercial 
residual traffic. 

 
11.71  The site lies within a commercial area of Derwent Howe estate and is associated 

retail parks within the Principal Service Centre of Workington. The applicant 
seeks the site to be served by a new western vehicular access link off the 
existing mini roundabout junction that serves Morrison’s/B&Q/Curry’s on Derwent 
Drive. There are other footpath links on Derwent Drives carriageway to link to 
other parts of the surrounding area. A bus stop is located within the immediate 
vicinity of the roundabout junction which is supported by a regular bus service. 

           The railway station is also within an acceptable walking distance of the 
application site although it is accepted that customers to a predominantly 
convenience store are unlikely to travel by train, but it does offer sustainable 
accessibility for employees.  

 
11.72  A secondary ancillary access to act solely as a service road is proposed via 

Lakes Road but the level of any such traffic will be limited as it is constrained by 
its proximity to the multiple junctions at this end of Lakes Road.  

 
11.73  The application was supported by a transport assessment Initially the highway 

authority considered insufficient evidence had been provided especially in 
evaluating the capacity of the existing roundabout junction which supports a high 
volume of traffic from the surrounding landuses. However further to the 
submission of additional evidence the details have been accepted by the County 
highway authority. 

           Therefore from a transport perspective the development is considered 
sustainable location with good connective links to the public transport terms of 
vehicular traffic, the proposal incorporates a new access to the highway  

 
11.74 Overall, the County Highways Authority raise no objections subject to planning 

conditions to ensure the access and off-site works are completed to an 
appropriate standard. The highway merits of the scheme are therefore 
considered acceptable. 

 
11.75 The NPPF, at Paragraph 80, states Planning policies and decisions should help 

create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. 
Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. The approach taken should allow each area to 

Page 54



build on its strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of 
the future. This is particularly important where Britain can be a global leader in 
driving innovation, and in areas with high levels of productivity, which should be 
able to capitalise on their performance and potential. 

 
Economic Benefits of the Proposal 

 
11.76 To achieve the economic role of the planning system of contributing to building a 

strong, responsive and competitive economy, it is recognised that the proposal 
would have economic benefits. The proposal in redeveloping this brownfield site 
would create further employment and its investment would support the economic 
growth of the area. 

 
11.77  In accordance with Paragraph 80 of the NPPF, the economic benefits of the 

proposal and the resulting support to economic growth carries ‘significant weight’. 
The proposals would make a positive and contribution in terms of further 
investment within Workington and the creation of further employment 
opportunities and its redevelopment would result in a long term vacant derelict 
and redundant area of land back into use. 

 

Local Financial Considerations 
 
11.78  Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 

have financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax 
Revenue. 

 

12.0 Conclusions 

12.1  The proposal accord with the provisions of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014. It 
considered to represent a sustainable form of development.  

           Whilst there are recognised concerns on any impact on the town centre, 
especially given recent changes of circumstances in the occupancy of units in the 
town centre, the applicant has submitted satisfactory evidence to demonstrate  
that will not significantly adversely impact on Workington Town Centre and it has 
been robustly evidenced why other, sequentially preferable sites in the town 
centre and edge of centre (some of which have only evolved in the intermediate 
time between the two retails surveys are not suitable (including those sites that 
have recently become vacant). Whilst as an outline proposal the applicant has 
sought flexibility to enable its future marketing, it has been agreed that measures 
be applied to restrict any aspect which could impact on the town centre  

 
12.2   The design and layout aspects would be addressed under any reserved matter 

application and additional aspects such as highways drainage, ecological impact 
and contamination can be satisfactorily mitigated by planning conditions.  

 

 

 

 

Page 55



RECOMMENDATION 

Subject to the receipt of additional ecological surveys (including mitigation which 

are acceptable to Natural England) GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO 

CONDITIONS  

Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. Before any development commences, details of the layout, scale and 

appearance, and landscaping (hereinafter called ‘reserved matters’) shall 

be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 

accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015In order to comply with 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

In Accordance: 
 
2. Approval of details of the scale and appearance of the building(s), and the 

landscaping of the site (thereinafter called the ‘reserved matters’) shall be 

obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority before development 

is commenced and shall be carried out as approved. 

     Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of the 

development. 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following plans: 

 Amended Dwg SK001 Indicative potential parking design planting 2-9-19 
 Amended Dwg 14 Plant specification and schedule 2-9-19 
 Location plan 
 Flood risk and drainage assessment rev A092014 Rev A (29/10/18)  
 Developable Areas A 04/05/21 
 Amended drawing No 13 planting plan 19/04/21 
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal update July 2021 
 Elliot reptile survey report September 2018 
 Bat Survey report September 2018  
 Entomology report October 2018. 
 E-mail re comparison goods dated 17/5/21  
 Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 

accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 

alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 

4. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 

than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission 

Page 56



and the development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the 

following dates: 

(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, 

or  

(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 

matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final 

approval of the last such matter to be approved. 

 Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 

5. The development of the reserved matters of scale and appearance shall be 

confined to the defined “developable area outlined on the plan ref : 

Developable areas; A (dated 04/05/21) 

Reason: To safeguard existing landscape (including trees protected by a Tree 

Preservation Order) and ecological features and habitats at the site in 

compliance with policy S33 and S35 of the Allerdale local plan (part 1)  

6. The cumulative total of the commercial floorspace of the reserved matters 

under condition 1 of this consent shall not exceed 2350sqm. 

 Reason: To ensure that the development complies with the terms of the planning 
application and that the retail impacts of the development are not greater than is 
anticipated in the retail impact assessment accompanying the application and to 
safeguard the vitality and viability of the town centre, in compliance with Policies 
S16 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
7. Before development commences, a detailed method statement for the long-

term management/eradication of invasive species on the site (including  
Japanese Knotweed) site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The method statement shall include 
proposed measuresto prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed during 
any operations such as mowing, strimming or soil movement. It shall also 
contain measures to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the 
seeds, roots or stem of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Development shall proceed in accordance with the 
approved method statement.  

        Reason: To avoid the spread during construction works of an invasive and 

 prohibited plant species in the interests of avoiding harm to the environment.  

 
      Pre-commencement conditions: 

 

8. Prior to the commencement of works a detailed scheme of land 

contamination site  investigations (including any remediation measures) to 

identify and remediate any unacceptable risks to human health, controlled 

waters or the wider environment shall be submitted to and approved by the 

local planning authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of 

remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed 

Page 57



remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and 

programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan. 

 

 Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 

possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 

compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of      

the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
9. Prior to the commencement of works a scheme of hard and soft 

landscaping which shall include indications of all existing trees and shrubs 
on the site, and details of any to be retained, together with measures for 
the protection in the course of development, shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority All planting, seeding or turfing 
comprised within the scheme shall be carried out in the first planting 
season following completion of the development and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development 
die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and species, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and       
minimise the impact of the development in the locality in compliance with       
Policy S33 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 1). 

 
10. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a 

plan has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
to show all existing trees which are to be felled or retained, together with 
the positions and height of protective fences, the areas for the storage of 
materials and stationing of machines and huts, and the position and width 
of temporary site roads and accesses. The details so approved shall be 
implemented prior to the commencement of the development and 
maintained at all times during the construction period. 

     Reason: In order to ensure that adequate protection is afforded to the existing     
trees on the site prior to any excavation/construction works on the site. 

 
11. No development shall commence until a sustainable surface water 

drainage scheme including a timetable for implementation has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be in accordance with the principles of the 
submitted Flood Risk & Drainage Assessment, ref A092014 Revision A 
dated 29 October 2018 and also in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards. No surface water will be 
permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public combined/foul sewer. 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance 
with the approved drainage scheme.  

           Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution.  

 

Page 58



12. No development shall commence until a construction surface water 
management plan has been agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority. 

 
          Reason: To safeguard against flooding to surrounding sites and to safeguard 

against pollution of the watercourse running through the site. 
 
13. Prior to commencement of works a Biodiversity Management Plan 

(including a Environmental Construction Management plan) to demonstrate 
biodiversity gain shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority . The plan shall include details on measures and details to be 
implemented during and after the course of construction works at the site 
to safeguard the habit of protected species at the site in accordance with 
the principles and recommendations of Section 6 of the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal update July 2021, Section 5.2 of the Elliot survey 
report September 2018 and dated August 2019 and section 5.3 of the 
Entomology report October 2018. The works shall be implemented solely in 
accordance with the approved details and thereafter managed at all times 
in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 Reason: In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity in      
compliance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
14. The development, or part thereof, shall not commence until the drafted 

roundabout improvement (shown on drawing number A092014-C003) has 
been suitably amended in accordance with the safety audit 
recommendations (Report no. A092014/RSA1); a full roundabout 
specification including a further safety audit shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval. The roundabout improvement shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved specification by the Local 
Planning Authority).   

           Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access provision when the 
development is brought into use and to ensure that vehicles can be properly and 
safely accommodated clear of the highway.  

 
15. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be designed, 

constructed, drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and 
in this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before work 
commences on site. No work shall be commenced until a full specification 
has been approved. Any works so approved shall be constructed before 
the development is complete. 

           Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
highway safety.  

 
16.      Development shall not be begun until a Construction Phase Traffic 

Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of:  
•  Details of proposed crossings of the highway verge; 
•  Retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and 

unloading for their specific purpose during the development; 

Page 59



•  Cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 
•  Details of proposed wheel washing facilities; 
•  The sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent 

spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway; 
•  Construction vehicle routing; 
•  The management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway 

and other public rights of way/footway; rights of way  
          Reason: To promote sustainable development, and in the interests of highway 

safety. 
 

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 

17.  Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 7, the  approved 

strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the 

development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use. 

         Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 

possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 

compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

18. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All work shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 

  Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
19. No part of the development hereby approved shall be brought into use until 

the access and parking requirements have been constructed in accordance 
with the approved plan. The access and/or parking provision shall 
thereafter not be removed or altered without the prior consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. In all other respects, the approved parking, loading, 
unloading and manoeuvring areas shall be kept available for those 
purposes at all times and shall not be used for any other purpose. 

           Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access provision when the 
development is brought into use and to ensure that vehicles can be properly and 
safely accommodated clear of the highway. 

 
20.     There shall be no public vehicular access to or egress from the site other 

than via the approved access, unless otherwise agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Page 60



 
           Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access provision when the 

development is brought into use and to ensure that vehicles can be properly and 
safely accommodated clear of the highway. 

 
21.     No part of the development hereby approved shall be brought into use until 

details of measures to prevent non-delivery vehicular access via the access 
at the south west of the site have been submitted and agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

           Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access provision when the 
development is brought into use and to ensure that vehicles can be properly and 
safely accommodated clear of the highway.  

 
22.     The approved layout reserved matters shall demonstrate the provision of 

footways which shall link continuously to the existing footpath highway 
infrastructure on the sites frontage onto Derwent Drive. The approved 
footway details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of any 
commercial building hereby approved.  

           Reason: In the interests of highway safety, accessibility by sustainable transport 
modes and to minimise potential hazards and to ensure that pedestrians and 
people with impaired mobility can negotiate the site in relative safety. 

 
23.     A landscaping management plan including long term design objectives, 

management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 
areas, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the occupation of any commercial units or any piece of the 
development, whichever is the sooner, for its permitted use. The 
development shall thereafter be maintained at all times in accordance with 
the approved management plan. 

           Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of public open 
space within the residential estate in compliance with Policy S32 S33 and DM17 
of the Allerdale local Plan (Part 1). 

 

24.      Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.  
           Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and 

pollution.  
 
25.      Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage 

management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
shall be submitted to the local planning authority and agreed in writing. The 
sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as a 
minimum: a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or 
statutory undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s 
management company; and b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing 
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system to secure 
the operation of the surface water drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and 
managed in accordance with the approved plan. 

 

Page 61



           Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the 
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution 
during the lifetime of the development.  

 
26.  The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with the 

mitigation and recommendations outlined in Section 6 of the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal update July 2021, Section 5.2 of the Elliot reptile 
survey report September 2018, Section 5.3 of the Bat Survey report 
September 2018 and section 5.3 of the Entomology report October 2018. 

 Reason: To safeguard the habitat of protected species in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 and DM17 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.   

 
27.    No part of the development hereby permitted shall be built above plinth 

level until there has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure / 
screen walls / fences / other means of enclosure. Any such walls / fences 
shall be constructed prior to the approved buildings being brought into 
use. All means of enclosure so constructed shall be retained and no part 
thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area in accordance with Policy S4 of 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 

 
28.  Prior to the commencement of the use of the site, a lighting impact 

assessment of the development’s lighting scheme (including siting and 
design), details of all lamps plus levels and hours of illumination by a 
qualified engineer shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority . Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority any lighting details should be solely be implemented 
and operated in accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason:  To minimise the impact of the developemnt on bat species in the 
locality from the operational use, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 

 
29.  Any comparison retail floorspace hereby permitted shall only be used for 

the sale of DIY products (including materials and accessories), home 
improvement products, carpets and floor coverings, furniture, white and 
electrical goods, automotive and cycle parts, pet supplies, gardening 
supplies, tents, camping, caravanning, leisure and outdoor equipment, 
together with the ancillary sale of fabric, soft and hard furnishings, 
homewares, decorative products, glassware, cookware and kitchen 
utensils or related accessories for all of the aforementioned or the 
provision of ancillary café facilities for the consumption within the 
premises. 

 Reason – In order to ensure the proposed development does not adversely affect 
the vitality or viability of Workington town centre in order to comply with Policy 
S16 of the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) 

Page 62



 
Please note: Public Footpath 262026 runs across the proposed development site 
close to the southern end of the site and will require a formal diversion or must 
not be altered or obstructed before or after the development is completed. If it is 
to be temporarily obstructed then a formal temporary closure will be required.  

  

Page 63



 

Page 64



Allerdale Borough Council 

 
Planning Application FUL/2019/0210 

 
Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2019/0210 

Valid Date: 30/08/2019 

Location: Land at New Bridge Road, Workington 

Applicant: c/o Rapleys LLP   

Proposal: Erection of a new discount foodstore with car parking, 
landscaping and other associated works. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the decision is to grant permission subject to conditions and a section 106 
agreement securing the delivery of biodiversity enhancement, the surface water 
drainage outfall and foul drainage connection. 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of 
Development 

The proposed retail store is considered a ‘town-centre’ use 
and so the application is subject to a ‘sequential assessment’, 
(in order to discount other available sites which are 
sequentially preferable) plus a retail assessment (to 
demonstrate that the impact upon the vitality and viability of 
the town centre is acceptable).  
 

Sustainability of 
location and 
highway safety 

The site is in a sustainable location. The access and parking 
proposed for vehicular trips are acceptable given the 
sustainable location, which will attract trips by non-motorised 
users.  

Landscape/Ecology  The site is within the Lower Derwent Valley designation 
(SA49) and is also included inside the wider river corridor’s 
designated Green infrastructure (SA52) in the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 2.(ALPP2) 

There will be no adverse impact on the Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) designation of the River Derwent, subject 
to mitigation. These conclusions reflect the ‘Appropriate 
Assessment’ under the Habitat Regulations. Biodiversity gain 
can be secured by an s106 legal agreement. 

Design and Layout These are considered satisfactory. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



Heritage  The proposed development would not harm the setting of the 
nearby listed buildings and the character and appearance of 
the St. Michael’s Conservation Area would be preserved. The 
proposal complies with policy S27 of the ALPP1.2014. 

Flood Risk and 
Drainage  

The site is in flood zone 1, the area at least probability of 
flooding and sequentially the preferred location for 
development. Drainage infrastructure requirements can be 
secured by an s106 legal agreement.  

 
2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposal is for a 1900 m2 retail store (1004m2 convenience and 252m2 

comparison sales floor area, the remaining areas being ancillary storage etc.) 
on an area of undeveloped land on the southern side of the River Derwent 
abutting the eastern edge of the A597 highway. (Convenience goods are 
items purchased for everyday living e.g. food, drinks, toiletries etc. 
Comparison goods are defined as those which consumers purchase 
relatively infrequently and so they usually evaluate prices, features and 
quality levels before making a purchase). The proposed occupier is Lidl and 
they have a standard format of an element of comparison goods within an 
aisle flanked and fronted by convenience goods. They intend to replicate that 
format at this site. 

 
2.2  The development is to be accessed by a new single vehicular entrance off 

the A597 which serves the 122 parking spaces, plus cycle stands. The 
access arrangements also incorporate a stub continuation of the access 
road providing the capacity and capability to serve additional development 
at the rear. However, members should note that this application does not 
include that land to the rear.  

 
2.3  The design of the store reflects the applicant’s standard store design 

(similar to that implemented in Maryport and Cockermouth) with a 
contemporary mono-pitched roof design and glazed/panelled elevations. 

 
2.4  The development would generate 40 full time equivalent (“FTE”) jobs. 
 
2.5 The Plans and documents for consideration are:- 
 

 Amended application form 19/11/21 re applicant  

 104B Site Access 

 07714-SPACE-00-GF-DR-A-01-0001-S3-P1 Ground Floor 

 07714-SPACE-00-RF-DR-A-02-0001-S3-P1 Roof 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-02-0001-S3-Rev P3 Elevations 20/10/20 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-90-0001-S3-P4 Site Location Plan 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-91-1008-S3-P4 Boundary Treatment 

 07714-00-XX-DR-A-91-1001 S3 Rev P16 Site plan 

 Dwg AMS TPP Rev C  Aborocultural method statement  

 AMS TPP Rev C Tree protection plan 

Page 66



 AIA TPP Rev C Tree protection plan 

 Arboricultural impact assessment report  Rev C 

 Ground Investigation report (July 2016) 

 SK0001 Rev C Drainage Strategy Plan. 

 Noise assessment   

 Ecological Impact Assessment. Rev H 19/11/21 

 Stage 1 HRA screening and stage 2 Appropriate Assessment Rev I 
10/01/22 

 Flood Risk and Drainage Impact Assessment ref 2019051 Rev D dated 
August 2019  

 Phase ll Geo Environmental site investigation and risk assessment 
21/12/21 

 Letter (Portland consultant engineers) 2019051-mg-001a (0003) re ground 
improvements 21/12/21 

 Predicted vibration levels specification sheet 10/02/21 

 Biodiversity assessment to demonstrate net gain 3/2/21  
DWG 01 Proposed Lighting layout 18/05/21 

 DWG 00 car parking lighting 18/05/21 

 Lidl CB data sheets 6m lighting column (Ref. TB061) 

 Travel Plan 

 4251-MP-00-00-DR-S-0110-S2 REV P01 Foul water drainage general 
arrangement Amended 8/7/21  

 Lidl CB data sheets 

 Tree planting guidelines  

 MAN.1234.001.LD.45.001 Rev A Planting plan (1 of 2) 

 DWG 16-1093-201 Rev C General arrangement (highway works) 

 002 Rev C External works layout 20/10/20 

 E-mail re 27/11/19 re drainage 

 Landscape and management Ecological Management plan Rev A Feb 
2022 

 
The above documents can be viewed on-line at:- 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-

application/a3X3X000004DMnGUAW/ful20190210?tabset-e3f5c=2 
 
3.0 Site 
 
3.1  The site is 1.3ha of generally level, undeveloped scrubland sited within the 

valley floor of the River Derwent in Workington. It is located in a wider area 
of mixed commercial and recreational land uses.  

 
3.2  A short line of six mature Swedish Whitebeam trees to the south of the site 

are protected under a Tree Preservation Order. 
 
3.3            A Tesco’s store forms the southern border of the site. To the north of the 

site is open land, England Coast Path footpath and the River Derwent. 
This section of the path is in poor condition with littering and broken glass. 
The A597 is the eastern edge to the site with the Workington AFC ground 
(Borough Park) on the opposite side of the road. 

Page 67

javascript:AppBlobImage('488409');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488410');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488411');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488411');
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DMnGUAW/ful20190210?tabset-e3f5c=2
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DMnGUAW/ful20190210?tabset-e3f5c=2


 
3.4            St. Michael’s Conservation Area is located approximately 450m to the 

south. This area includes the Grade ll* listed buildings of St. Michael’s 
Church and St. Michael’s House and the Grade ll listed John Pirt’s 
engineering works. 

 
4.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 Planning permission was previously granted on the site for a public house 

/restaurant with associated living accommodation, car parking landscaping 
and new access (ref 2/2017/0255). The permission was varied under (ref 
2/2017/0499) for changes to the level and siting of the building.  

 
4.2 As the current proposal constitutes Schedule 2 development under the 

provisions of the Environmental Impact Regulations 2017 a screening 
opinion was undertaken (ref SCR/2019/0005).  It was determined that the 
proposal was not EIA development. 

 
4.3 This application was approved by members at the Development Panel 

meeting on 17th December 2019. The decision was the subject of judicial 
review in the High Court by Tesco on two grounds relating to application of 
the sequential test and assessment under the Habitat Regulations. The 
Council did not contest the first ground and the decision was quashed. 

 
4.4 The applicant has since updated the application and submitted additional 

evidence in support including biodiversity enhancement on adjoining land. 
 
4.5 A nearby application FUL/2019/0018 for the demolition of the Borough Park 

and redevelopment of the site to provide a sports stadium (use class D2) that 
incorporates a hospitality /conference suite (class D1/D2), community facility 
(class D1), Café (class A3) and office space (class B1a) and an outdoor 
sports pitch (class D2) with access, parking and landscaping on the opposite 
side of New Bridge Road, remains undecided. 

 
4.6 A Travelodge hotel, Costa café and drive-through takeaway, approved under 

2/2018/0499, have been developed on land to the south of the roundabout 

junction since the submission of the current application before members.  

5.0 Representations 
 
Workington Town Council  
 
5.1 Concerned by the outcome of sequential testing and disagree that it is the 

only viable site as they think other sites have potential, particularly Central 
Car Park, but it was accepted this would require some design output. There 
was also concern on the impact on traffic and the site is not conducive to 
pedestrian access and the traffic would be different to that of the public 
house which had been originally planned for the site. The Town Council had 
not opposed the former public house scheme because it was considered that 
it had the capacity to enhance the character of the area through its prominent 

Page 68



position whereas the unimaginative design and nature of the proposed food 
store does not contribute at all. 

 
Cumbria County Highways Authority 

5.2 The amended layout’s inclusion of the continuation of the existing 
cycle/footway is welcomed and needs to be secured by condition. Advise no 
objections to the amendments subject to planning conditions and a 
contribution towards a scheme under consideration by the highway authority; 
Duke Street is presently a rat run for vehicles travelling to Station Road which 
is impacting on the safety of the street. It is accepted there is a previous 
approval for a smaller building on the site. Seek a £5k contribution to account 
for the traffic generated by the development, to be used within a 5 year 
timescale. (No details were provided by the Highways Authority to qualify 
what measures the requested commuted sum would be invested in.) 

 
Cumbria County Rights of Way Officer  
 
5.3 Advise there are no public rights of way within the vicinity, but the England 

Coast Path does follow the River Derwent to the north of the site, with the 
consequent need to consult Natural England. 

 
Cumbria County Minerals and Waste  
 
5.4 No comments (the site is not within a safeguarding zone). 
 
Cumbria Constabulary  
 
5.5 It is evident that that the potential for crime and disorder have been 

accounted for in the proposed design and layout, with good levels of external 
lighting. Recommend doors on the north elevation meet specific standards. 

 
Highways England  
 
5.6 No objections. 
 
Northern Gas Network 
 
5.7 Following discussions and a range of mitigation measures including a 

concrete slab across the access driveway entrance to the site, they have 
withdrawn their initial objection. 

 
Coal Authority 
 
5.8 In assessing the applicant’s Geo Environmental Statement, it is 

recommended a condition be added requiring site intrusive investigations 
prior to commencement of development. The coal mining addendum advises 
“there is a very low to negligible risk to the subject site from shallow 
workings“. The Coal Authority therefore has no objections. 

 

Page 69



United Utilities 
 
5.9 Seek the surface water drainage to be undertaken in accordance with the 

national drainage hierarchy. Support the proposed surface water drainage 
details submitted with the applicant’s evidence. Seek any foul sewer 
connection to be to an adoptable standard. It is recommended that the 
drainage details and their future maintenance be reserved under planning 
conditions. In response to the later amended sewer connection (dated 
6/5/21), they advised they had no objections subject to a planning condition 
requiring the development to be undertaken in accordance with the principles 
of applicant’s Flood Risk and Drainage Impact Assessment document with 
surface water drainage to a watercourse.  

 
Environment Agency 
 
5.10 Contamination – during construction they consider there is an unqualified risk 

of contamination to controlled waters (River Derwent). They consider further 
evidence is required, but the provision of additional information prior to 
determining the application would be unreasonable - this decision rests with 
the local planning authority. Seek conditions on contamination and a 
remediation strategy (without which they would object). Also refer to their 
own environmental permitting regime for works within 8m of a main river or 
16m if tidal. They confirm the site is within Flood Zone 1 with the need to 
evaluate finished floor levels. They also refer to the foul water discharge and 
the option to utilise the sewer in the area, which would require the consent of 
United Utilities. 

 
ABC Environmental Health 
 
5.11 Accept the Noise Assessment and Geo Environmental Assessment 

recommendations. 
 
Natural England 
 
5.12 Initially questioned the foul drainage, as any package treatment plant will 

require a permit. Also seek a Construction Environment Management Plan. 
The habitat creation would contribute to net gain and demonstrate the 
Council’s biodiversity duty. Also recommend the mitigation and enhancement 
criteria of section 4 and 5 of the applicant’s Ecological Impact Assessment. 
(The applicant has since amended the proposal to pursue an alternative 
connection to the public sewer).  Natural England, in response to the 
submitted supporting HRA and Appropriate Assessment documents, advise 
they have no objections subject to the mitigation outlined in the ecological 
impact assessment. This mitigation will ensure there is no adverse impact on 
the site integrity of the River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC) as concluded in the HRA. The enhancement proposal 
under section 5 of the report should also be secured including the provision 
of additional small blue butterfly habitat.  

 
 

Page 70



Other Representations  
 
5.13 The application was advertised on site and in the press. Three letters of 

objection were received on the grounds of: 
 
a) The application is a retail development at an out-of-town location which 

would impact on Workington town centre. 

 

b) Reference to the other additional proposed retail development at Derwent 

Howe Retail Park and the recent approval of a variation of condition 

application at Derwent Drive Retail Park. 

 

c) The impact on the town centre from the proposed Derwent Howe retail park 

development alone is 7.9% at 2023 which the Council’s peer assessment 

does not feel would be significant, but the objector considers there needs to 

be a cumulative assessment accounting for the three retail proposals. 

 

d) The Council’s former retail health check study referred to the strengths of the 

town centre but also identified its weaknesses including its limited 

convenience retail offer, the quality of its built environment and prominent 

vacant units. The cumulative effect of additional retail provision drawing 

people away from the town centre and its associated linked trips will have an 

impact on the town centre.  

 

e) Lidl’s trading philosophies as a deep discounter forms the basis of their 

appraisal’s sales density figures as they differ from those of other 

supermarkets with a limited core range of their own exclusive labels. 

However, there is a trend towards it being a traditional supermarket. 

Consider the proposal as open retail rather than a specialised retailer and, 

therefore, a sensitivity test is required using other retail densities to indicate 

the extent of any impact on other centres which are protected under planning 

policy i.e. the reference to “discount is misleading” which could not be 

controlled and is therefore undistinguishable from any other non-discount 

retailer. (i.e. the consent could be potentially be operated by a separate 

retailer with higher sales density.) 

 

f) This store will have a number of negative effects on Workington and the 

planning application is deficient in a number of respects. The Council’s Retail 

Study confirms that Workington is well-provided for in respect of main food 

and other convenience shopping facilities, particularly given the presence of 

a number of major supermarket operators, along with several smaller town 

centre stores. Although the town was considered to perform reasonably well 

it was also stated that: “The centre does continue to exhibit signs of 

weakness, most notably the range and quality of the convenience offer.” The 

study also identified significant under-trading amongst existing stores and 

confirmed that “…the turnover of Tesco and Morrison’s in Workington has 

declined significantly since 2009 as a result of Asda opening in 2010”). 

Page 71



 

g) In the context of a weak town centre, it is perverse that Lidl’s agent has not 

commissioned (nor the Council requested) a household survey of local 

shopping habits to identify the actual turnover of existing convenience stores. 

Further surprised, in the context of known under trading, that the Council has 

accepted an impact analysis based solely on benchmark turnovers. Yet the 

indicators of difficulties in the area are clear and Lidl’s agent implicitly 

accepts the extent of under trading when confirming that available 

expenditure (post Lidl) will be £59m yet stating that total benchmark turnover 

of existing convenience provision is £108m. Thus, the combined under 

trading of convenience goods floorspace in Workington equates to some 

£50m. This should be of significant concern to the Council.  

 

h) The applicant’s retail assessment work is not supported by appropriate 

evidence, primarily an up-to-date household survey of Workington, on which 

to base relevant assumptions and judgements regarding retail impacts. 

 

i) By the applicant’s own admission, there is substantial under-trading across 

existing convenience provision. In other words, total available expenditure is 

fundamentally lower than benchmark turnover of existing stores). This should 

be a ‘warning alarm’ to the Council, with existing retailers particularly 

vulnerable to change. 

 

j) Such under-trading invalidates the decision by Lidl’s agent to review the 

impact of the proposed Lidl store solely on the basis of benchmark turnover – 

existing stores are not trading at or near to benchmark and thus the analysis 

is entirely misleading. 

 

k) The applicant’s agent has fundamentally underestimated the level of impact 

on the town centre, both in terms of existing turnovers (well below benchmark 

levels) and an underestimation of the trade to be drawn from them to the 

proposed Lidl. 

 

l) The proposed development has few qualitative benefits for Workington in 

terms of and the likelihood is that the jobs created by Lidl will merely be 

transferred from the stores that it impacts. Tesco is not alone in its concerns. 

Agents acting for Asda have submitted a robust objection. Workington Town 

Council has also objected to the application, including in respect of harm to 

the town centre. These objections must be given appropriate weight.  

 

m) The planning application form does not identify an applicant; it simply records 

the word ‘other’. Statute requires the identity of an applicant to be clear. It is 

not sufficient for an agent to act as both agent and applicant. The failure to 

identify an applicant is prejudicial to relevant interests and the Council must, 

therefore, rectify the matter and re-consult on the application with the 

applicant clearly shown. 

 

Page 72



n) The applicant has failed to consider sites in all of the town centres that fall 

within the catchment of the proposal. Omitting centres from the assessment 

is contrary to the “Town centre first “principle. 

 

o) The town centre site is likely to be suitable for the broad type of development 

proposed. Options to locate the proposed use are therefore yet to be “fully 

explored”. The southern section of the site has not been rejected as 

unavailable and it represents a sequentially preferable site. 

 

p) The assessment has not adequately assessed the Workington Railway 

Station site and insufficient evidence has been provided to discount its 

sequential superiority.  

 

q) The full cumulative impacts have not been fully assessed contrary to Policy 

DM8. 

 

r) The planning conditions recommended by the peer assessor would not 

effectively restricts the operation of the proposed retail unit ( A condition 

restricting the units floorspace should be imposed if the council are minded to 

grant permission to ensure no adverse impacts on the town centre.) 

 

s) The proposal cannot be seen as ancillary and therefore it is contrary to its 

allocation under Policy SA49. 

 

t) The applicants Heritage Assessment has yet to be appropriately scrutinised  

and regard should be had to the effects of cumulative change in accordance 

with Historic England Good Practice Advice. 

 

u) The objector therefore contests for the above reasons the proposal should be 

refused.  

 

5.14 A letter of support was received because it is considered the other discount 
supermarket in Workington, Aldi, is too small for the population of the town. It 
would also reduce Workington residents travelling to the Lidl in Maryport. 

6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1  Under the Town and Country Planning (Environment Impact Assessment) 

Regulations 2017 the development falls into Schedule 2 and, following 

‘Screening’, is not considered to require such an assessment. 

7.0 Duties 
 

7.1 The proposal has the potential to affect the setting of some listed buildings in 
the locality of the site. Section 66(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states 
that, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall 

Page 73



have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 
7.2 The site is not located within a designated conservation area but its proposed 

development could affect character and appearance of the St. Michael’s 
Conservation Area which is located to the south of the proposed site. Section 
72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.    

 
7.3 The site is within the Impact Risk Zone of the River Derwent and 

Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (A Natura 2000 
designation). The development may have a significant effect on the 
designated site and is therefore subject to an assessment under the Habitat 
Regulations and, if required, an ‘Appropriate Assessment’.  

 
8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 
Allerdale Local Plan (2014) (Part 1)- ALPP1 

8.1 The following policies are considered relevant:- 

S1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S2 Sustainable development principles 
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
S4 Design principles 
S5 Development Principles 
S6a Workington  
S16 Town centres and retail 
S21 Developer Contributions  
S29 Flood Risk and Surface water drainage 

S30 Reuse of land  

S32 Safeguarding amenity  

S33 Landscaping 

S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

DM7 Town Centre development 

DM8 Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability 
DM9 Town centre frontages 
DM14 Standards of good design 
DM16 Sequential test for previously developed land 
DM17 Trees, hedgerows and woodland 
 
These policies can be found at: 

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/ 

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) - ALPP2 

8.2  The site is within the settlement limits for Workington but is not allocated.  

SA2 Settlement Limits 

Page 74

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/


SA49 Lower Derwent Valley 
SA52 Protecting and Creating Green infrastructure 
           

Whilst not directly related to the site, the following policies are also relevant:- 

Policy SA46 Retail and Town centres 
Policy SA47 Central Car Park Workington  
Policy SA48 Royal British Legion    

 
 The Plan can be found at :- 

 https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 

 
9.0 Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

9.1 Section 7 of the NPPF is titled ‘Ensuring the vitality of town centres’. 
Paragraph 86 states that planning policies and decisions should support the 
role that town centres play at the heart of local communities. 

 
9.2 Paragraph 81 advises that planning policies and decisions should help create 

the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant 
weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. 

 
9.3 Paragraph 87 states that local planning authorities should apply a sequential 

test to planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in 
an existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan. Main town 
centre uses should be located in town centres, then in edge-of-centre 
locations and only if suitable sites are not available (or expected to become 
available within a reasonable period) should out-of-centre sites be 
considered. 

 
9.4 Paragraph 88 says that, when considering edge-of-centre and out-of-centre 

proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites that are well 
connected to the town centre.  Applicants and local planning authorities are 
urged to demonstrate flexibility on issues such as format and scale. 

 
9.5 Para 90 states that, when assessing applications for retail and leisure 

development outside town centres which are not in accordance with an up-to 
date plan, local planning authorities should require an impact assessment if 
the development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if 
there is no locally set threshold, the default threshold is 2,500m2 of gross 
floorspace). This should include assessment of:  

           
a) the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 

private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the 
proposal; and 

Page 75

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/


b)  the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local 
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail catchment 
(as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).  

 
9.6 Paragraph 91 states that, where an application fails to satisfy the sequential 

test or is likely to have significant adverse impacts in terms of the 
considerations set out at paragraph 89, then planning permission should be 
refused. 

 
9.7 Para 179 of the NPPF advises; “To protect and enhance biodiversity and 

geodiversity, plans should: 
            
a) Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats and 

wider ecological networks, including the hierarchy of international, national 
and locally designated sites of importance for biodiversity; wildlife corridors 
and stepping-stones that connect them; and areas identified by national and 
local partnerships for habitat management, enhancement, restoration or 
creation; and  

b) promote the conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority habitats, 
ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority species; and 
identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable net gains for 
biodiversity.  

c) Paragraphs 180 & 182 are also relevant to this issue. 
 
West Cumbria Retail, Town Centres and Leisure Study (WCRTLS) 2020 
 
9.8 Allerdale and Copeland councils jointly commissioned this study for West 

Cumbria in January 2020. One of the key purposes was to act as the 
evidence base for future development plan policy and land use allocations, 
as well as providing baseline information to assist in the determination of 
planning applications for retail and leisure development. It postdates the 
Retail Study (2015) that was part of the evidence base for the Local Plan by 
5 years.  

 
9.9 This study is based on an up-to-date household shopping survey, the latest 

population and expenditure data and updated health checks for ten defined 
town centres, including land use surveys.  In addition, the health assessment 

included engagement with key stakeholders to gain views on existing town 
centre strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats; potential 
suggested town centre improvements and retailer/leisure provider 
requirements/needs.  It therefore provides up to date and robust evidence to 
inform the assessment and this officer report. 

  
  
Workington Town Centre SPD (March 2021) 
 
9.10 This complements Local Plan policy. It is relevant when assessing available 

town centre sites for their suitability for the applicant’s proposal. 
 
Workington Town Investment Plan (Oct 2020) 

Page 76



 
9.11 Workington was invited by Government to develop proposals to support the 

town’s economic growth prospects with a focus on improved transport, 
broadband connectivity, skills and culture. Communities, businesses and 
local groups had the opportunity to help draw up a Town Investment Plan 
which was submitted to Government in October 2020. 

 
9.12 In March 2021 as part of the Government’s budget, it was announced that 

Workington had been successful in securing £23m from the Towns Fund. 
None of this, or other known investment, is at risk from the current proposal. 

 
9.13 The content of the Plan is therefore a material consideration as it informs the 

assessment as to whether certain town centre sites are suitable or available 
for the proposal and indicates what committed or planned investment is 
anticipated. It also informs the weight to be given to the allocation policies in 
the development plan when considering it as a whole.  

 
Allerdale Climate Change Action Plan 2021 
 
9.14 The proposal will promote biodiversity and is consistent with this Action Plan. 
 
10.0 Policy weighting 
 
10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 

10.2 The Town Centre SPD is complementary to the policies of the statutory 
development plan and carries weight.   

 
10.3 The successful Workington Town Investment Plan’s bid is a material 

consideration which is afforded weight. 
 
10.4 The NPPF, updated in 2021, is clearly a material consideration afforded full 

weight.  Part 1 of the Local Plan is more than 5 years old and predates the 
latest iteration of this national framework, but it is still considered to have a 
high degree of consistency with the NPPF (including its retail policy context). 

 
10.5  The Allerdale Climate Change Action Plan 2021 is consistent with the NPPF 

and Local Plan. While not a statutory plan, it can carry some weight as a 
material consideration. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



11.0 Assessment 
 
Principle of development 
 
11.1 Workington is identified as the Principal Centre in the settlement hierarchy 

under Policy S3 of the ALPP1 (2014) and should therefore be the focus for 
major new development (the application site is located within the defined 
settlement limits under Policy SA2 of the ALPP2). The Principal Centre and 
its vitality and viability are to be protected under Policies S2 and S6a. Subject 
to certain criteria, policy S5 indicates that new development will be 
concentrated within the physical limits of such centres, providing that the 
scale of the development proposed is commensurate to the size of the 
settlement and reflects its position within the hierarchy. Where available, and 
if appropriate, the Council will also encourage and prioritise the effective 
reuse of previously used land and buildings or vacant and underused land, 
as identified by Policy S30. However, under its criteria policy DM16, as the 
development exceeds 500sqm, a sequential test is also required. 

 
11.2 Following the last consideration of this application by members, the ALPP2 

has been adopted. The application site falls within the designated Lower 
Derwent Valley, policy SA49 being relevant. That policy supports the 
provision of new / replacement sports facilities and ancillary town centre uses 
in this area subject to specific criteria (reflecting the existing established uses 
in this area). It recognises the site’s value as an important gateway approach 
into the town seeking design solutions that enhance this entrance to the town 
whilst improving the green infrastructure / ecological habitat of the River 
Derwent corridor.  

 
11.3 This is further reinforced by the site’s additional designation under Policy 

SA52 as part of protecting and enhancing the River Derwent’s green 
infrastructure corridor. It does not preclude development in this area but 
seeks the enhancement of these assets and any wildlife linkages. The 
proposed landscape and ecological enhancements forming part of this 
scheme help to achieve these goals for this part of the River Derwent.  

 
 Retail planning considerations   
   
11.4 Policy S16 of ALPP1 advises that the Council will promote the vitality and 

viability of town centres within the Plan Area by encouraging a diverse mix of 
uses in high quality environments which attract a wide range of people at 
different times of the day, and which are safe and accessible to all.  

 
11.5 Policy DM8 advises that proposals for main town centre uses will be 

approved within the town centre boundaries. Applications for these uses, or 
extensions of existing uses outside of the defined centres, will be refused 
where the applicant has not demonstrated compliance with the sequential 
approach to site selection. 

 
11.6 Development of this site for the major scale of development proposed is 

considered to be commensurate to the size of the settlement and the role of 

Page 78



Workington as the Principal Centre within the hierarchy, in accordance with 
Policy S5. The use of this site is therefore in accordance with policy S5 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan. i.e. reflecting its primary position in the settlement 
hierarchy and its existing associated sustainable services and infrastructure 
credentials, without significant detriment to its character or environment.  

 
                 The site is undeveloped land, but its immediate setting and the nearby 

stadiums were developed in the 20th century, with the construction of the river 
bridge in the 21st century following earlier major floods.  Policy S30 of 
ALPP1- undeveloped land therefore applies. 

 
11.7 The proposal is for a retail store with a mix of both convenience and 

comparison goods. The applicant company highlights that this will be a 
“Limited Assortment Discounter” (LAD) store selling a limited range of their 
own brand products. This type of store has been accepted in previous 
appeals as being distinctly different from main retailers. 

 
11.8 The impact of the proposed retail store and the effect on the the vitality and 

viability of the Workington town centre is assessed below. 
 
Sequential Test for town centre uses – context  
 
11.9 Policy S16 requires retail development to be located within existing centres 

and to be of a scale commensurate to the settlement’s role and function, so 
as to not undermine the settlement hierarchy. The proposed scale of the 
applicants store is similar, or indeed smaller in size, to other convenience 
retail stores elsewhere within the town. It is therefore in proportion to the 
settlement as a whole. Further, policy S16 requires that proposals for main 
town centre uses outside of defined centres will be refused where the 
applicant has not demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to 
site selection, or where there is clear evidence that the proposal would have 
a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of a nearby centre.   

 
11.10 The application site does not lie within or adjacent to Workington town centre 

but is within the accepted urban area. It therefore falls to be assessed as an 
‘out of centre’ site for the purposes of section 7 of the NPPF (2021) and 
policies S16 and DM8 of the ALPP1.  

 
11.11 At the time of the previous consideration of this application, the submission 

had been supported by a sequential assessment of alternative sites within 
Workington. These included some draft allocations from the then emerging 
Local Plan Part 2.  These allocations are retained in the now adopted Plan. 
(Policies SA47 Central Car Park site and SA48 Royal British Legion apply). 
Both these allocations are further supported by SA46 which seeks to 
safeguard the sites for main town centre uses and other uses that will 
enhance the vitality and viability of the town centre. Additional vacant sites 
have also been identified since the previous consideration of the application. 

 

Page 79



11.12 The expanded and updated alternative sites assessment includes reasons 
for dismissing them all. This reasoning has been tested by officers and peer 
reviewed by a suitably qualified, independent specialist. 

 
11.13 The NPPF has a requirement for ‘flexibility’ in paragraph 88. The terms 

suitable and available generally mean suitable and available for the broad 
type of development which is proposed by approximate size, type and range 
of goods.  The identity and personal or corporate attitudes of an individual 
retailer are generally excluded.    

 
11.14 Lidl has an established store format linked to its business model.  This is 

generally c.2100m2 GEA with a net sales area of 1300m2 GIA.  This size of 
store allows for pallets to be used in the display area to keep costs down, 
space to move around the store for mobility impaired, the elderly and 
customers with small children and easy access to all bulky products.   

 
11.15 The applicant originally required a minimum site of 0.93 ha including store 

(1900m2) warehousing, servicing, parking and landscaping.  They also 
asserted requirements for a prominent site, with safe manoeuvrability, easily 
accessible by a choice of means of transport and surface level car parking.   

 
11.16 In undertaking the sequential test the applicant has shown flexibility under 

para 8 of the NPPF by applying a minimum of 0.5ha to enable the 
accommodation of a 1,700sqm unit on a single floor. It also seeks level 
parking provision and a frontage location to attract passing trade. 

 
 Sequential assessment – Central Car Park 
 
11.17 The Central Station Car Park is allocated in ALPP2 - Policy SA47. It 

comprises of a large car park divided by its service road with a narrow, 
landscaped cycleway/footway corridor at its southern end. The larger eastern 
section of the car park forms the bulk of the site with a narrow, smaller strip 
on the opposite, western side of the access road. This site is owned by 
Allerdale Borough Council.  

 
11.18 The applicant accepts the site is a town centre location and acknowledges 

the policy designation. However, they contend that it is not suitable for their 
proposal due to the conflict with the plans identified in the Workington Town 
Investments Plan (Oct 2020). The latter identifies the site as an area for the 
development of an innovation centre and mixed-use development comprising 
of residential, café/restaurant and community facilities. The Investment Plan 
reflects the Council’s aspirations for regeneration and redevelopment of key 
sites with complementary uses to the rest of the town centre. The Investment 
Plan foresees development that will markedly improve the attractiveness and 
legibility of the connections to the town centre whilst also providing a 
distinctive development that responds to the prevailing grain of the 
surrounding townscape, enhancing the character and appearance of the site 
in the process. 

 

Page 80



11.19 The applicant contends that the site is not available as it is not being actively 
marketed. They refer to correspondence received from the Council’s Estates 
Manager which states that the site is not available for this purpose as the 
Council is planning to redevelop it.  

 
11.20 The applicant has submitted more site-specific details. They advise that the 

scale and layout of their proposal does not respond to the prevailing grain of 
development and the aspirations to do so in the Investment Plan. They also 
say that, as it’s not on a vehicular through route, it would not benefit from 
passing trade. The proposed store would also, they contend, have an 
adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring housing. 

 
11.21 In the same letter the applicant contends that the recently approved SPD 

further demonstrates the unsuitability of the site. In this context, they also 
refer to paragraphs 87 and 88 in the updated 2021 NPPF which contain the 
criteria for assessing sequential tests. They highlight that, from an 
operational level, when determining whether a site is suitable or viable, 
certain operational requirements for the business model of the broad type of 
development proposed should be considered - in this case a LAD food store. 

            
11.22 They cite the SPD’s commentary to key site 1 with its goals as “a key 

opportunity to diversify and complement the existing town centre offer and 
respond to changing shopping, employment and leisure patterns” and “the 
role of the town centre and support long term vitality and viability” supported 
by a range of design principles to be incorporated into a masterplan to avoid 
piecemeal development (no such plan has been prepared to date). The 
applicant contends that partial development of the site conflicts with this 
vision. 

 
11.23 The applicant also notes that the SPD seeks the provision of a high quality 

public realm scheme to increase connectivity between the site, the 
neighbouring town centre and the Lower Derwent valley via the existing 
national cycle route 72 which traverses the site. The applicant contends the 
footprint of a store plus its associated parking would act as a barrier for 
pedestrian movement through the site and be poorly integrated into the town 
centre, contrary to the aspirations of the SPD. The applicant emphasises that 
the SPD not only seeks the retention of the existing cycleway which traverses 
the site but its enhancement. The retention (and enhancement) of the 
corridor constrains the footprint of the building. The car movements 
associated with the car parking facilities would add to the risk of the users of 
the cycleway. 

 
11.24 The applicant notes that the existing town centre comprises of town centre 

uses centred on pedestrian streets or smaller roads, with the surrounding 
land to the Central Car Park site characterised mainly by terraced housing. It 
is considered the proposed store’s design would neither reflect nor 
complement this existing grain. 

 
11.25 The applicant’s supporting letter also refers to the Workington Town 

Investment Plan 2020 and its plan to deliver an innovation centre as project 

Page 81



2, a catalyst for the regeneration of the Central Car Park site. Phase 1 
proposes a 15,000 sq ft flexible office space due to open in 2023 with 
replication of this flexible office space as part of Phase 2. The document 
outlines “Allerdale Borough Council is proposing to develop a major mixed 
use scheme on this site, focusing on offering town centre residential 
accommodation to professional workers temporarily located in west 
Cumbria”. 

 
11.26 The applicant notes the Council’s successful £23m bid for the Towns Fund 

with the Council’s website advising “the facility will be housed in a flexible, 
energy efficient building, on the Central car park site on Central Way in 
Workington. This will be part of a wider planning regeneration of this major 
town centre site, designed to augment and extend the existing town centre. 
Other uses for the site are likely to include housing café/restaurant provision 
and community facilities.” The Investment Plan includes an illustrative layout 
plan outlining the types of development envisaged. Retail is, the applicant 
notes, not included within the potential uses for the remainder of the site. The 
applicant also considers that, when the centre office building and mixed uses 
are complete, there will be insufficient space to accommodate the proposed 
development. 

 
11.27 The initial peer review undertaken on behalf of the Council in 2019, 

concluded that the site was both suitable and available for development of a 
retail unit for convenience goods. It was considered comparable in size to the 
application site and would accommodate the applicant’s store with no 
modification, merely requiring a revised parking layout. Any impact on 
neighbouring properties could be addressed through its design and the 
applicant’s contention that the site lacks prominence and visibility were 
disputed and could be resolved through signage. The peer reviewer identified 
the proposal as a freestanding destination attracting single shopping trips 
linked to those for the town centre.  

 
11.28 The peer reviewer and officers now consider that the Innovation Centre 

development of approximately one third of the northern section of the site 
east of the central service road is secured by government funding. This 
project, as detailed in the Investment Plan, has rendered this area both 
unavailable and unsuitable for the applicant’s proposal. 

 
11.29 The peer assessor understands that the proposals for the southern section of 

the site, east of the service road/cycleway, aim to deliver a complementary 
mixed development (including residential) but are not detailed, as yet. 
Reference is made to the SPD which seeks a comprehensive approach 
contributing positively to the urban grain. The peer assessor and officers 
agree that the area identified for the Project 2 development in the Investment 
Plan is not available for a retail store as proposed. The peer reviewer does 
consider that the proposed floorspace could be accommodated on the 
remaining land but it is unclear whether the irregular shape of the land could 
also accommodate the additional parking and servicing requirements. 
Officers consider that, even when allowing for flexibility of format and scale, 
there is a reasonable requirement for the LAD store type proposed to have its 

Page 82



own servicing and parking provision. Given this could not be accommodated 
on the available part of the site, this site is not considered to be suitable for 
the scheme proposed.   

 
11.30 Also, the peer assessor does consider that the foodstore development would 

not meet the aspirations of the SPD or the Investment Plan which encourage 
higher density development i.e. retail ground floor with residential above.  

 
 Sequential assessment – Royal British Legion  
 
11.31 The Royal British Legion is also a town centre location (allocated site in 

ALPP2 - Policy SA48). At 0.2ha this site is currently unsuitable in its size to 
meet the operator’s minimum requirements. It is also in active use and has 
not been marketed. The owner was contacted but no response has been 
received to date and therefore it is viewed as not being available. The peer 
assessor previously concurred with this opinion and officers note that there 
has been no change in circumstances to change this viewpoint. 

 
 Sequential assessment -The Cloffocks (Lower Derwent Valley)   
 
11.32 This 1.6ha site comprises a public car park and public green space and is 

classed as an edge of centre site i.e. within 300m of the edge of the 
designated town centre boundary. The site is allocated in Part 2 of the Local 
Plan for sports and recreational use, policy SA49 being applicable. Part of 
the site is included in pending application (FUL/2019/0018) for the demolition 
of the existing stadium and redevelopment to provide a sports stadium 
including hospitality /conferences, community, café, office land uses and a 
sports pitch. 

 
11.33 The remaining land could accommodate the proposal, but the allocation is for 

alternative recreational uses with complementary “ancillary” town centre 
uses, rather than retail.  The proposal would be contrary to these allocations if 
pursued as a stand-alone retail development. It would also result in the loss 
of existing parking facilities serving the town centre which would need to be 
accommodated elsewhere. The loss of car parking may deter shoppers from 
using the town centre (including the elderly and disabled). The site also lacks 
road frontage and prominence. The site is therefore not considered suitable.  

 
11.34 Notwithstanding the unsuitability, the Council. as landowner of this site, was 

contacted on its availability but no formal reply has been received to date.  It 
is therefore considered unavailable.  

 
 Sequential assessment – Former Debenhams Store, Risman Place, 

Washington Square 
 
11.35 The Debenham’s store on Pow Street in the town centre has recently closed. 

The site is 0.25ha in area and incorporates three floors. It was developed as 
an anchor store as part of a wider town centre redevelopment in 2003. It is 
within the Local Plan’s defined town centre.   

 

Page 83



11.36 The applicant contends that the premises would be unsuitable given the 
internal configuration of the store (multiple structural columns and centrally 
located escalators). The structural alterations required are compounded by 
the need for subdivision so the store could occupy part of the existing space.) 
The applicant also asserts that the site’s location in the shopping centre lacks 
visibility and accessibility which is part of the discounter’s model criteria. 
They also cite the lack of an adjacent level car park to enable the transfer of 
goods, which would deter shoppers. 

 
11.37 The Council’s independent peer reviewer notes that the landowner is 

amenable to the subdivision of the ground floor and alternative uses on the 
upper floor. However, they concur that the absence of a neighbouring level 
car park renders this site unsuitable. Officers fully acknowledge a car park at 
the eastern end of Pow Street is used by customers to Marks and Spencer’s 
food hall. However, the Debenham’s site necessitates a journey, albeit 
relatively short, along Pow Street whereas the M & S directly fronts onto the 
car park. Furthermore, the M & S is clearly aimed at those shopping for a 
smaller shop e.g. handbasket of premium goods. In contrast, a Lidl will result 
in a significant proportion of shoppers with a full trolley, where a convenient 
and accessible car park is essential. It is also noted that the existing car park 
is very limited in scale (approx. 24 spaces). 

 
11.38 As such, the Debenham’s store is not considered suitable. 
 
 Sequential assessment – Laura Ashley, Risman Place, Workington 
 
11.39 This vacant store is 0.02ha in area and is located within the Washington 

Square shopping centre. It constitutes a town centre location and is within the 
designated primary shopping area. The size of the site is insufficient to 
accommodate the development, even just the retail floorspace without the 
associated servicing. It is also split over two floors. Officers and the peer 
review concurred with the applicant’s assessment that this site is not suitable. 

 
 Sequential assessment – Fusion Night club 
 
11.40 The site comprises of a 0.12 ha of land formerly occupied by the Fusion 

nightclub which burnt down, the site being subsequently cleared. It is located 
within the Local Plan’s defined town centre. The applicant contends the site 
is insufficient in size to accommodate the proposed development, plus it is 
hindered by poor visibility from any thoroughfare and has limited access off 
the A596. They also note that it is covered by the policy SA52 allocation in 
ALPP2 and development of part of this would undermine the wider objectives 
of this policy.  

 
11.41 Officers and the peer reviewer concur; the site is clearly too small to 

accommodate a store of the type proposed, the access arrangements are 
heavily constrained and the site is set at a much lower level than the rest of 
the town centre with poor accessibility for all. Some weight is also afforded to 
the SPD and the aspirations for complementary uses and green 
infrastructure, rather than a standalone retail scheme. 

Page 84



 
 Sequential assessment –The Opera House, Pow Street 
 
11.42 This is a 01.ha site has recently been cleared. It is heavily constrained by its 

access along the pedestrian only Tiffen Lane or Ladies Walk. The applicant 
considers its size could not support the proposal nor does it have adequate 
surface parking facilities, delivery arrangements or visibility to accommodate 
the proposal. Officers and the peer reviewer both confirm that the site, size 
and its locational constraints mean that it is not suitable for the type of store 
proposed. 

 
11.41 The Investment Plan identifies the land as potentially being suitable for a 

‘pocket park’. 
 
                 Sequential assessment – Workington Railway Station  
 
11.42 This is a 1.4ha brownfield out of town site on land to the south of the railway 

station’s car park. Although the size of the site could accommodate the 
development, the applicant highlights it’s out of town status, that it is not 
sequentially preferable to the proposed site (being approximately 25m farther 
away from the town centre) and has poor connectivity. The railway site would 
also involve third party ownership delaying the development process.  

 
11.43 It is understood the site is owned by the County Council who are exploring 

redevelopment options and it is unclear whether they are seeking the sale of 
the land and what timescales are involved. Clarity on this was sought from 
the County Council but no reply received.  

 
11.44 The site is unallocated white land and falls within an area of designated 

‘Green Infrastructure’ under policy SA52 of ALPP2.  A food store would 
conflict with this designation.  

 
11.45 The peer assessor agrees that this is an out of centre site and is not a 

sequentially preferable site.  The site is therefore considered not suitable or 
available. Furthermore, officers highlight this site is detached from the town 
centre by a predominantly residential area of the town albeit there is a 
fragmented commercial element along Station Road‘s highway corridor, 
reducing the opportunities for linked trips. 

 
 Sequential assessment – Central 4 cars, Lillyhall, Distington (provided in 

supplemental retail note) 
 
11.46        This development in Copeland was approved in October 2021 (ref 

4/21/2341/0F1). It proposed a 553sqm building at the southern end of 
Lillyhall’s industrial estate. The site is on the edge of the Lidl’s 10 minute 
drive catchment area and is not within Workington. A foodstore there would 
not serve the same catchment area, requiring customers to travel further to 
this alternative site. Given its out of centre location it does not represent a 
sequentially preferable site which is connected to the town centre (indeed it is 

Page 85



less preferable than that of the proposed site). It is therefore not considered 
suitable for the proposed development. 

 
11.47 The peer assessor agreed that this site would serve a materially different 

catchment area to the proposed site. The proposal represents an out-of-town 
site under the NPPF. Its floorspace is less than that of the proposed 
development, even when allowing for flexibility. The peer assessor therefore 
concurs with the findings of the applicant’s sequential appraisal for this site 

 
11.48        The peer assessor confirmed that he has not identified any other sequentially 

preferable sites for consideration as part of the sequential assessment. 
Officers agree and conclude that the retail sequential test is passed.  

 
Retail Impact Assessment  
 
11.49 The NPPF requires an impact assessment for schemes over 2,500m2 or if the 

development is over a locally set threshold. Policy DM8 of the ALPP1 sets this at 
500m2 and a RIA is therefore required. 

 
11.50 The initial peer assessment had concluded that there would be no significant 

impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre. However, it is 
recognised that there have been some changes since the review through the 
publication of the West Cumbria Retail, Town Centres and Leisure Study 
(WCRTLS) 2020. The WCRTLS encompassed a 2020 Household Survey 
and therefore represents a recent evidence base for the assessment. 
However, it is acknowledged that in addition it is considered there have been 
changes to the strength of the town centre, arising from considerations 
including the pandemic.  

 
11.51        As a consequence the applicant has provided an updated revised impact 

note and health check (Feb 2022) in the light of changes to base data and 
assumptions, which supersedes the findings of the applicants earlier surveys. 
This complemented the updated in person town centre health check 
undertaken in November 2021 which was considered essential to establish a 
more accurate position on the condition of the town.   

 
11.52        The main points arising from the assessment were to address the following 

issues: 
                 a) The health check suggests a slight decline in the number of comparison 

units within the town centre but suggest there is growth, including during the 
pandemic 

                 b) Qualify the growth of the convenience sector during the pandemic, but 
explain the predicted reduction of the store’s turnover since the last retail 
assessment. 

                 c) Clarify any changes in the percentages from earlier assessments  
                 d) Incorporate the Lillyhall (Central cars) site into the retail assessment  
                 e) Account for the Derwent Howe proposal being solely for comparison retail 

bulky goods. 
 

Page 86



11.53        In assessing these issues under the town centre health check, substantial 
weight is attributed that the growth in the comparison sector relates to 
national trends, which are endorsed by the Experian Retail Planner Note 198 
(Jan 2022)  which also relates to personal expenditure over an annual year 
rather than the number of units in the town centre. This comparison goods 
growth is being driven by a higher than normal growth in internet shopping. 
The Experian evidence predicts decline in comparison sales density growth 
due to the temporary growth of shops and increased on–line shopping. (The 
national evidence of Experian may not necessarily correlate with 
Workington’s town centre.) 

 
11.54        Regarding convenience shopping, the evidence within Experian        

suggests nationally convenience spending in 2020 did grow by 8.7%. The 
reduction in the Lidl sales densities is not based on Experian overall growth, 
but alternatively sourced from Global data (Dec 2021) with figures deriving 
from retail performance figures and the quantum of floorspace each 
individual retailer has within its portfolio of stores. Changes to Lidl’s sales 
densities is possible through accurate accounting of Lidl’s turnover and net 
sales floor areas within its portfolio. 

 
11.55        It emphasises that that the quantitative impact assessment now utilises 

convenience and comparison sales densities from Global data (Dec 2021), 
instead of the earlier assessments use of a blended sales Mintel sales 
density. And the applicant considers provide a more balanced benchmarked 
turnover for the proposal. 

 
11.56        In reference to changing percentages reference is made to the difference 

between trade draw and the number of units within the town centre. The 
updated health check demonstrates small increase in the number of 
convenience units (8 to 11) and a sizable increase (79 to 96) in the number 
of comparison units in the town centre. However, there is a decrease in retail 
services, leisure services and financial and business services, plus the 
number of vacancies (30 to 25) are lower since the last assessment in 
October 2020. (It is highlighted that three of the new convenience units are 
small newsagent type retailers, with limited range of goods not catering for 
the weekly convenience shopping market and therefore are not likely to 
compete with the Lidl store. The increase in comparison units is 
predominantly small independent shops but does include larger retailers, ut 
are not seen as to likely complete with Lidl’s comparison offer in the 
proposed store. 

 
11.57.       It is therefore concluded that Workington Town centre remains healthy 

despite lockdown restrictions at the time. 
 
11.58        The retail note also updated the cumulative impact assessment. 
                 The quantitative assessment was included as part of the update, including 

the following evidence information: a catchment area population data from 
Experian (Jan 2022) adopting 10minute drivetime catchment area, 
convenience and comparison goods expenditure growth, special forms of 
trading growth based on Experian retail planner briefing note 19 (Jan 22), Lidl 

Page 87



store benchmarked sales turnover based on Global data (Dec 2021) , based 
impact year rolled forward from 2021 to 2022 and based design year rolled 
forward from 2026 to 2027, updated convenience and comparison 
expenditure per person, theoretical turnover of the Derwent Howe proposal 
for comparison goods and the inclusion of the former Central Cars site.(and 
its trade diversions). 

 
11.59        Details were provided on quantitative impact trade diversions with an agreed 

assessment scope. It encompasses population forecasts, personal 
convenience and comparison goods forecasts, total available expenditure 
forecasts within the catchment area, predicted turnovers for the Lidl store 
(based on average sales densities), theoretical expenditure capacity for 
convenience and comparison goods in the catchment area and predicted 
trade diversions from existing retailers to the proposed development 
(including an allowance for other developments and expenditure inflow from 
outside the catchment area. 

 
11.60        The assessment highlights the impact on the town centre should be 

assessed as a whole rather than on any impact on individual retailers. The 
impact on the town centre is seen as 2.12% (2027) which is considered 
within acceptable limits. For convenience goods turnover there is a 
cumulative impact of 5.886%, with an impact of the town centre of 2.53%. In 
total it is cumulatively predicted that (£3.49m-2027) will be diverted from the 
town centre of which £0.13m from M&S foodstore and £0.14 from Iceland. 
These locations are easily accessible from the proposal, thus there will be a 
choice of shopping (no single in centre store will be impacted by more than 
9%. It is envisaged that a significant proportion of the proposed Lidl’s store 
trade will be drawn from the existing Morrison’s, Tesco and Aldi within 
Workington as these stores offer a wider range of goods, are in proximity to 
the prosed site and are the dominant foodstores within the catchment area. 

 
11.61        Workington town centre has a limited foodstore offer in the form of M&S 

foodhall, Iceland and other smaller independent retailers, none of which are 
discount retailers. Lidl’s primary competitors are other discount retailers 
which offer a similar range of goods to Lidl. 

 
11.62        Reference is also made in the assessment to the local centre of Seaton 

which only has small stores (100-330sqm in size) acting as top up shopping 
destinations and therefore will not compete with the proposed store and 
therefore any impact will be minimal. 

 
11.63        It is predicted that 10% inflow of the proposal’s turnover will be generated 

from trade which is currently leaking to other locations within or outside the 
catchment area i.e. shoppers travelling more than 10 minutes to undertake 
their shopping. 

 
11.64.       In considering comparison goods trade, a majority of the proposed stores 

comparison expenditure is expected to be diverted from main foodstores 
(which offer similar or extensive comparison goods) and other bulky good 
destinations. However, this is an ancillary role to the store, with shoppers 

Page 88



having the primary objective of convenience shopping. Thus, the comparison 
goods floorspace proposed will not have an adverse level of impact on the 
vitality and viability of Workington town centre.    

 
11.65        The report concludes the proposal will not have any adverse impact on 

existing, committed and planned public and private investment in any centre 
centres in the catchment of the proposal. The updated note provides a 
detailed appraisal based on recent evidence with no identified significant 
adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre. Or any centre 
in the study area. It will deliver benefits to local residents improving the retail 
offer, with additional employment benefits and reduced journey times. It also 
demonstrates the applicant’s commercial intent to improve consumer choice 
for the town with additional economic investment benefits, representing the 
only sustainable location in the town in compliance with the NPPF criteria  

 
11.51 For the purposes of both the applicant’s original and updated retail 

assessment, a 10 minute drive time threshold was applied to identify the core 
catchment area. The catchment had a population of 35,210 in 2020 rising to 
an estimated 35,569 in 2027. (The original peer review found that this was a 
reasonable approach to adopt.) 

 
11.52 The assessment included other applications which are pending i.e. Derwent 

Drive (ref 2/2018/0595) and the approved variations to building B and C at 
Derwent Howe in the same locality (ref VAR/2019/0008). 

 
11.53 Furthermore to enable greater analysis of other pending retail applications a 

more detailed additional retail note document was provided on the cumulative 
retail impacts concerning the following sites: 

 
(i) Princess Hall, Princess Street, Workington (FUL/2021/0067). Its gross retail 

area 345sqm does not trigger the 500sqm threshold necessity for any impact 
assessment but does require consideration under a sequential assessment. 
In the absence of any such impact assessment the note makes assumptions 
on the potential trading patterns of the store. i.e. indicative. 

(ii) Unit 5b, Chapel Road, Derwent Howe industrial estate, Workington 
(FUL/2021/0099). This proposal involves a retail extension to an existing 
warehouse with a sales area of 800sqm. Thus, this proposal is supported by 
both a retail sequential and impact assessment. the proposals turnover and 
trade account diversion patterns have been accounted for the updated 
assessment (where feasible updated by the latest Experian retail planning 
briefing Note 10 (Oct 2020)  

 
11.54 An updated health check of Workington’s town centre as of Feb 2022 (based 

on has been provided.  This is based on key Health Check Indicators set out 
in the Town Centres and Retail NPPG.  The recent RTCS 2020, indicates a 
10.1% vacancy rate which is below UK national average vacancy levels 
(11.72%) with a good mix of retail uses for a local retail centre, resulting in 
the vitality and viability of the town centre being good. It also benefits from 
very good levels of accessibility and good environmental quality. The crime 

Page 89



rate is mediocre. Overall, the check suggested the town centre is in a very 
good state of health, with good levels of vitality and viability.  

 
11.55  In light of the current pandemic the report acknowledges that at this stage it 

is difficult to predict its impact on vacancies and the health of the town centre. 
However, the town appears largely unaffected by the Covid restrictions. As a 
general wider trend, the convenience sector has seen larger than expected 
growth as a result of the pandemic and the latest Experian Retail Planner 
Briefing Note (October 2022) shows changes in shopping habits with online 
spending on comparison goods diverting footfall from larger town and city 
centres. 

 
11.56 In assessing the town centres convenience sector the applicant’s health 

check suggests a slight decline in the percentage of convenience units in the 
town centre since 2015. However, the supporting retail report suggests 
convenience retailing has remained very resilient to the pandemic. It 
contends convenience shopping has seen growth rates well above growth 
trends in both bricks and mortar and online for more vulnerable groups in 
both 2020/2021.  Therefore, existing convenience retailers in the town centre 
are expected to experience strong levels of trade reflecting the essential 
nature of convenience shopping. The town centre primarily operates as a 
comparison shopping destination with the vast majority of retailers being 
comparison led, providing a different offer to Lidl.  The applicant’s non-food 
offer focuses on household products and non-food “specials”. 

   
11.57 The recent updated retail note revised the earlier modified estimated retail 

assessment figures.  
 
11.58 The submitted retail note advises a total available convenience expenditure 

within the catchment area of £84.00m in 2021, falling to £83.07m by 2027. 
The proposed convenience turnover of the store is £8.92m (2021) declining 
to £8.78m by (2027) which represents approx. 10.6%% of the total 
convenience expenditure. 

 
11.59 The alternative total available comparison turnover of the catchment area is 

is £88.40m increasing to £103.74m (2021-2027). Of this the proposed 
comparison turnover of the store would be £1.21m (2021) rising to £1.41m by 
(2027) i.e. approx. 1.3%% of the available catchment area. The retail note’s 
report is of the view that the stores comparison turnover will have minimal 
impact on defined retail centres  

 
11.60 It is envisaged that a proportion of the store’s turnover will be drawn from 

other out of town stores, namely Aldi, Tesco and Morrison’s as these facilities 
are similar in nature and are of proximity to the site. However, the applicant 
contends and the associated quantitative impact will not be of a level which 
would be of a significant adverse impact, given the small scale of the store 
and its trading characteristics. The applicants report also concludes that an 
element of inflow expenditure could be anticipated. There are sustainable 
benefits to shopping locally, but a proportion of shopping turnover will be 

Page 90



captured from a wider area given the proposed stores siting on a major route 
into the town. 

 
11.61 The retail note also updated the cumulative impact assessment. The 

quantitative assessment was included as part of the update, including the 
following evidence information: a catchment area population data from 
Experian (Jan 2022) adopting 10 minute drive time catchment area, 
convenience and comparison goods expenditure growth, special forms of 
trading growth based on Experian retail planner briefing note 19 (Jan 22), Lidl 
store benchmarked sales turnover based on Global data (Dec 2021) , based 
impact year rolled forward from 2021 to 2022 and based design year rolled 
forward from 2026 to 2027,updated convenience and comparison 
expenditure per person, theoretical turnover of the Derwent Howe proposal 
for comparison goods and the inclusion of the former Central Cars site (and 
its trade diversions). 

 
11.62 In assessing the impact of the development as a whole, it is envisaged the 

forecasted cumulative convenience and comparison retail impact of 1.1% 
(2026) on Workington town centre which is considered to be within 
acceptable limits. This includes a 7.78% impact on convenience goods 
turnover and comparison impact of 2.10% 

 
11.63 It is estimated a predicted £1.76m will be diverted from Workington town 

centre of which £0.19 will be from M&S foodstore and £0.21 m from Iceland 
(7.22%) 

 
11.64 Further diversions will be from other out of town stores Morrison’s (£1.35m), 

Tesco (£1.62m) and Aldi (£0.72m)   
                 Workington Town centre has limited foodstore offer in its M&S foodhall and 

Iceland stores, which are not discount food retailers and provide a different 
retail offer. Lidl’s primary competitors are other discount retailers. 

 
11.65 Reference is made to Seaton, but its convenience shops are limited to small 

stores 100-300 sqm in size acting as top up shopping destinations, thus not 
competing with the proposal and resulting in a minimal impact. 

 
11.66 It is predicted 10% (inflow) of the proposal’s turnover will be generated from 

trade which is currently leaking to other locations within and outside the 
catchment area. (i.e. more than a10 minute drive for shopping trips). The 
applicant contends it is reasonable to assume some of these customers living 
outside the catchment may occasionally shop at the proposed store. 

 
11.67 For comparison goods trade, most of the proposed stores comparison 

expenditure is expected to be drawn from the main foodstores (which have 
similar comparison goods) and other bulky goods destinations which have an 
an ancillary role to the primary role of the store as a convenience shopping 
destination. As such the report considers the comparison goods floorspace 
proposed will not have a significant adverse impact on the vitality or viability 
of the town centre. 

 

Page 91



11.68 It is also envisaged 10% of the proposal’s turnover will be generated from 
trade which is leaking to other locations within and outside the catchment 
area. 

 
11.69 Both the peer review and officers have reviewed the assessment and other 

updated evidence including the latest Retail Study. They note that the 
cumulative assessment of trade impacts assesses to 2026 in compliance 
with guidance of the Planning Practice Guidance. The latest peer review and 
officers observe that the updated quantitative assessment is based on: 
Benchmark figures taken from Mintel Retail Rankings, the supporting retail 
evidence for the Chapel Road unit proposal, the theoretical turnover 
generated and trade draw from the Princess Street proposal.   

 
11.70 The estimated turnover figures for the town centre are within the WCRTLS 

and updated to take account of Experian growth rates.  The total turnover of 
the town centre is expected to increase from £148.85m in 2019 to £160.27m 
in 2026 (whilst accepting a decline in 2020-21 due to the pandemic). Of this 
latter figure for 2026 £7.04m relates to the sale of convenience goods and 
£153.23m to the sale of comparison goods. 

 
11.71 The applicant’s impact assessment also takes account of commitments with 

the proposed developments at Derwent Drive (2/2018/0595) having a “worst 
case scenario” turnover of £15.89m at 2026 and units B & C Derwent Retail 
Park (VAR/2019/0008) having turnover of £10.81 million in 2026. 

 
11.72 The peer reviewer and officers note the cumulative impacts on the 

convenience retail turnover in 2026 are expected to be 0.69% on Workington 
town centre, with cumulative impacts on out-of-centre destinations expected 
to be 19.28% with negligible or low impacts on the convenience retail offer at 
Seaton. The submitted evidence indicates that cumulative impacts on the 
retail convenience turnover will be 6.8% in 2026 with the highest individual 
trade impacts being Iceland (7.22%), Home Bargains (5.15% - excluding 
comparison retail turnover) and M&S (4.76%). 

 
11.73 The peer reviewer and officers previously acknowledged that, as a result of 

the pandemic, it is difficult to estimate its long-term impacts on the town 
centre.  The lockdown has accelerated growth of online retailing and placed 
additional strain on town centre operators. The loss of the large Debenham’s 
anchor store in the town centre has the potential to reduce trade and footfall 
and considerably increases the proportion of vacant floorspace. Overall, in 
terms of short-term retail impact, the peer reviewer considers that Workington 
town centre will be more vulnerable than when previously assessed.  
However, any impacts on town centre trade will still be low. The impacts on 
the convenience retail sector will be higher but this sector has performed 
strongly in the pandemic and any such impacts are unlikely to undermine the 
viability of any individual trader. 

 
11.74 The peer assessor acknowledged the changes in the updated assessment 

with the inclusion of the two additional retails sites at Princess Street and 
Chapel Road. In addition, it also recognises the earlier assessments figures 

Page 92



have been reviewed to account for updated assumptions to allow more up to 
date figures deriving from Mintel data which reduces the sales density figure 
which resulted from accurate accounting of Lidl’s current turnover and net 
sales floor areas in the timescale just before the pandemic (Feb 2020). 

 
11.75 The peer assessment considers the assumptions on the Princess Street site 

are reasonable with an estimated convenience turnover of £1.68m in 2026 
and convenience turnover of £0.30m the same year. Of this £0.13m (7.7%) 
would be diverted from the town centre and the remainder £1.56m (92.3%) 
diverted from facilities outside the town centre. Its comparison retail turnover 
£0.28m will be from the town centre (93.3%) and £0.2m (6.7%) diverted from 
facilities outside the town centre. The peer assessor considers these patterns 
of trade diversions to be reasonable as it is anticipated it will for two retail 
units one of which will be a neighbourhood retail store.  

 
11.76 The peer assessor refers to the proposal at Chapel Road, Derwent Howe 

which is supported by retail evidence including turnover figures and trade 
diversion assumptions which estimates a turnover of £1.0m of which 40% will 
be diverted from the town centre and 60% of facilities.  This is considered 
robust given that it relates to the relocation of an existing store and relates to 
bulky goods. 

 
11.77 The peer assessor refers to the updated cumulative trade impacts on trade 

impacts which have increased to 7.78% when compared with the former 
assessments 6.8%. The cumulative impacts of the combined convenience 
and comparison retail turnover of the town have also increased to 1.1% form 
the former surveys 0.69%. This increase in the impact on the convenience 
retail turnover of the town is primarily due to the impact of the Princess Street 
proposal, whereas the increased impact on the combined retail town centre 
turnover is due to that proposed at Derwent Howe. 

 
11.78 The peer assessor also comments on the significantly lower turnover figure 

for the proposed store which has an effect on ameliorating cumulative trade 
impacts on the town centre. These revisions reduce the anticipated 
convenience turnover from £10.09m to £7.58m and the comparison retailer 
turnover reduced to £2.53m to £1.90m. It is considered these figures should 
be treated with caution as albeit the Mintel data source is reputable, it is 
possible Lidl’s sales densities have been diluted by larger more spacious 
stores in recent years. (it is noted that the convenience retail market has 
performed more strongly since March 2020 and Lidl operate in one of the 
fastest growing markets. 

 
11.79 However even if the former assessment figures were adopted, the peer 

assessor estates the cumulative trade impacts on the convenience retail 
turnover of the town centre will be 8.7% and trade impacts on the combined 
turnover of the town would be at 1.12%. The peer assessor references his 
earlier appraisal in May 2021, in that impacts on the overall retail turnover of 
the town centre will be low and impacts on the town centres convenience 
sector will be spread among a number of individual facilities which provide 
specialised convenience offers which differ from that of Lidl. Thus, it is 

Page 93



considered the proposal will be unlikely to give rise to significant adverse 
impacts on Workington town centre, or other defined centres. 

 
11.80 The peer assessor concludes the updated retail note satisfies the sequential 

test set out within the NPPF and Policies s16 and DM8 of the ALPP1. While 
the revised detail shows higher cumulative impacts on the Workington town 
centre, the peer assessor concludes the proposal would remain within 
acceptable parameters and is unlikely to give rise to significant adverse 
impacts on the town centre or other centres, thus complying with the impact 
criteria of the updated NNPF.   

 
11.81 Paragraph 90 of the NPPF also requires an assessment of the impact of the 

proposal on vitality and viability in terms of local consumer choice and trade 
in the town centre and wider retail catchment area (as applicable to the scale 
and nature of the scheme).  At present there is one discount convenience 
operator in Workington, the Aldi on Derwent Drive.  The proposed Lidl would 
provide increased choice and competition within the town and the wider 
catchment area. 

 
11.82 It is also recognised, through the projects identified within the Investment 

Plan, and reflected, in part, by allocations in the Local Plan, that there is a 
strategy for regeneration focussing on complementary uses to the retail that 
will help strengthen and diversify the town centre offer and footfall. The 
emphasis on these complementary uses rather than retail will mean that the 
proposed store will not impact on this funding strategy. Indeed, siting the 
store within one of these other key sites could prejudice delivery of the 
strategy.  

 
Retailer identity - known occupier  
 
11.83 An objector has previously noted that Lidl are not named on the application 

form. Members are advised that Lidl is clearly referred to within both the 
planning and retail statement and the Design and Access Statement.  As 
such this is not a speculative proposal but one with an identified operator. 
Officers also highlight the division of the retail floorspace between 
comparison and comparison goods will be secured by condition. 

 
Retail/town centre impact summary  
 
11.84 The applicant’s updated sequential test and retail impact assessment have 

been robustly reviewed by the peer assessor. A range of evidence was used 
including the sequential assessment, identification of the catchment area, 
vitality and viability of centres within the catchment, proposed foodstore 
turnover and quantitative impact assessment (trade diversion). 

 
11.85 There are no available, suitable or sequentially preferable alternative sites. 

The impacts of the development have been assessed on the basis of the 
application for a single foodstore.  It is therefore considered necessary 
impose a condition prohibiting sub-division unless expressly granted by a 
fresh planning permission.  

Page 94



 
11.86 Whilst there will higher impacts on the retail turnover on the town centre than 

originally assessed, the peer reviewer considers this scheme is unlikely to 
give rise to significant adverse impacts on the vitality and viability of the town 
centre. However, this assessment is based on the majority of the floorspace 
being for convenience goods. Given the town centre’s bias towards 
comparison retailing, a split with more comparison goods within the proposed 
store, is likely to have unacceptable impacts. Thus, a condition is necessary 
to restrict the comparison goods % to that proposed in the submission.  

 
11.87 The proposal is considered to accord with polices S16 and DM8 of ALPP1.  
 
Design/ Landscaping 
 
11.88 Policy S4, S5 and DM14 of ALPP1 seek the delivery of a satisfactory 

standard of design. The design adopts the company’s standard generic 
contemporary design with a modern partially glazed and panelled building. 
The store is sited within the centre on the plot with parking provision on its 
southern and eastern edges. The application site is relatively open and level 
in its appearance and therefore the building will be prominent in the approach 
coming across the bridge from Northside. 

 
11.89 The applicant has retained all of the protected Swedish Whitebeam trees 

(subject of the TPO) and intends to supplement the proposed perimeter 
paladin fence with additional landscaping in order to soften the visual impact 
of the development. Indeed, some landscaping e.g. kidney vetch, seeks to 
enhance the biodiversity value of the site. Officers therefore consider the 
proposed development complies with both the design criteria of policy S4, S5 
and DM14 and the landscaping criteria of Policy S33, SA49 and SA52 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan. The trees will need to be protected by fencing during 
construction and this can be secured by condition. 

 
11.90 The applicant’s evidence also highlights sustainable measures and features 

to be incorporated into the building with passive (e.g. maximising daylight) 
and active (e.g. heat recovery/low energy lighting, reducing wasted energy) 
design strategies. 

 
Ecology  
 
11.91 Policy S35 of the ALLP1 seeks to protect the biodiversity of sites and 

safeguard the habitat of any protected wildlife species. The application 
documents include an ecology survey. It refers to the nearest upstream 
national designations of the River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake SAC and 
SSSI (850m) as well as Siddick Pond SSSI (510m distant) in addition to a 
range of local designated wildlife sites and Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) 
habitats.  

 
11.92 The site is identified as a potential interest for UK Biodiversity Action Plan 

2007 (BAP) Small Blue butterfly species which occupy dry sheltered areas of 
grassland where kidney vetch grows. The survey concludes there will be no 

Page 95



significant residual effect on these designations, albeit kidney vetch is 
included within the landscaping specification. The survey also assessed the 
impact on other species including bats, otters, badgers, protected fish 
(salmon, river brook and sea lamprey) as well as specially protected birds (of 
site local importance including kingfisher), breeding birds and reptiles. 

 
11.93 In summary, the findings of the updated ecology report were: 
 

 No records or evidence of protected mammals near the site. 

 Bats – low/negligible suitability for roosting. The River Derwent corridor 
provides high suitability for foraging and commuting bats. 

 Otter – No evidence of Otters in recent surveys but the River Derwent and 
its banks provide favourable Otter habitat.  

 Birds – No specially protected birds within the site. However, the River 
Derwent corridor is suitable habitat for Kingfishers. 

 Common reptiles - No incidental observations of reptiles in the 2019/ 2021 
surveys, but a suitable foraging and refuge habitat.  

 The River Derwent supports Atlantic Salmon, River lamprey, Sea lamprey 
and Brook lamprey 

 Protected Invertebrates – site supports only widespread and common 
habitats with no detection (2015 survey) of protected invertebrate species  

 Protected flora - None in the phase 1 habitat survey (2019 and 2021) or 
recorded within 2km - only common/widespread habitats identified. 

 No invasive species identified at the site,  

 Priority species – The sites vegetation provides a limited extent for 
foraging/ refuge for this type of species including hedgehog, common toad 
and invertebrates. 

 
11.94 Thus ‘protected species’ are of negligible ecological importance on the site, 

while other species are only of local importance. 
 
11.95 Subject to the recommended mitigation measures outlined in the report, no 

significant residual impact is expected, resulting in no net loss in biodiversity 
whilst also providing opportunities for overall biodiversity gain.  

 
Habitat Regulations 
 
11.96 The Habitat regulations form a separate system of control from ‘planning’. 

Given the proximity of the application site to designated ecological sites, the 
ecology report was also supported by a Habitats Regulation Screening and 
Appropriate Assessment, to examine the impact of the development on the 
qualifying species of these specific designations.  Although the development 
does not directly affect any statutory ecological designations, by its location 
adjacent to the tidal River Derwent, the impact of any works has the potential 
to migrate within the upstream tidal section of the river which is designated a 
SSSI and SAC (and any of their associated habitats). There is also a 
potential for impact on the Solway Firth proposed Special Protection Area.  

 

Page 96



11.97 The scheme is not likely to have any significant effects on the proposed SPA 
designation. Its location, downstream within the tidal firth and scale and the 
nature of the habitats recorded inform this conclusion. (In the absence of any 
direct impact, by virtue of the location, nature and scale of the development 
and its separation distance from the River Derwent no pathways for potential 
in combination effects on the SPA’s qualifying wintering bird species and 
important wetland bird assemblage were identified.) 

 
11.98 There is assessed to be no direct impact on the River Derwent SAC from the 

operational phase of the store, parking and access elements, given the 
separation distance to the designation (850m). However, the River Derwent 
is tidal and could act as a pathway for potential likely significant effects from 
run-off, during the construction phase (especially as some of its qualifying 
species are migratory and may traverse along the river corridor). The 
identified potential pathways for likely significant effect on the SAC’s 
qualifying species included: construction and operational run off including 
disturbance to the bank in constructing the outfall/foul sewer connection, 
artificial lighting, vibration from vibro-compaction works and direct accidental 
injury to species during construction.  

 
11.99 The HRA screening concluded that likely significant impacts were identified 

for the marine /fish and Otter species from potential construction run off and 
injuries, if Otters entered the construction site. Mitigation is possible but, as 
per the former People over Wind judgement legal case verified, this cannot 
be accounted for at the screening stage.  

 
11.100 Thus an Appropriate Assessment under the Habitat Regulations was also 

necessary to demonstrate whether the integrity of the designated 
sites/qualifying features is adversely affected through the implementation of 
the proposed mitigation measures.  The proposed mitigation includes site 
works undertaken in accordance with the Environment Agency’s Pollution 
Prevention Guidance to address any run-off, a fenced off 10m buffer from the 
boundary of the site to keep Otters out, with a precautionary approach of 
covering holes or trenches overnight. 

 
11.101 Other identified ecological impacts have been assessed by officers in 

consultation with Natural England.  The applicant’s assessment that there 
would be no significant residual effect from the development is considered 
robust subject to measures including further checks for evidence of any 
species, control on lighting details (construction and operation), no piling 
works, protective perimeter fencing and a buffer strip on the northern 
perimeter of the site. A Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) is necessary and can be secured by condition. Enhancement 
measures were recommended including the creation of small blue butterfly 
habitat, three bird boxes, two bat boxes and the use of native planting.  

 
11.102      Natural England have raised no objections to the submitted details (as 

amended) or the submitted Appropriate Assessment. 
 
 Subject to conditions, there is accordance with policy S35 of ALPP1.  

Page 97



  
Flood Risk Drainage  
 
11.103  Policy S29 of the ALPP1 seeks to ensure satisfactory surface water drainage 

details and minimise the risk of flooding. 
 
11.104 With the exception of a very small area of landscaping, the site is located in 

Flood Zone 1, the zone at least probability of flooding from rivers and the sea 
and, sequentially, the preferred location for development. 

 
11.105 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment states the risk from flooding from 

rivers, sea, land, groundwater sewers and any other artificial sources is low. 
To mitigate flood risk it was recommended that floor levels be identified. This 
is a robust conclusion given the Environment Agency’s mapping not only 
indicating that the site is in flood zone 1 but it is also not recorded at being at 
risk of flooding from other sources such as surface water.  

 
11.106 For surface water drainage, ground conditions are not suitable for infiltration. 

Therefore, the surface water drainage is proposed to be by an outfall into the 
River Derwent, with the foul by the public sewer. The implications of the 
outfall were considered as part of the ecological assessment and this 
discharge method is considered to be the most appropriate and accords with 
the drainage hierarchy detailed in policy S29 and the NPPF. 

 
11.107 The route of the amended outfall falls outside the ownership of the applicant 

but is within the ownership of the application site’s existing landowner and 
therefore it is considered there is a reasonable prospect of these works being 
delivered. It is recommended that the works for both foul and surface water 
be secured by a s106 legal agreement.  

 
Contamination 
 
11.108 Policy S30 outlines the criteria for the reuse of land which includes 

addressing any contamination.  
 
11.109 The application was supported by a ground investigation report including a 

range of mitigation measures. Neither ABC’s Environmental Health Officer 
nor the Environment Agency raise concerns on this issue, but the latter refers 
to the potential for any pollution transfer due to the tidal activity of the River 
Derwent to ecological designated sites upstream. As already detailed in the 
Ecology section of this report, measures including a Construction 
Management Plan can address this matter appropriately. The proposal 
therefore complies with policy S30 of ALPP1. 

 
Residential Amenity 

11.110 Policy S32 seeks to ensure that the residential amenity of communities is 
maintained to an appropriate level. 

 

Page 98



11.111 The application included a noise assessment with the nearest sensitive noise 
receptors being residential properties located in the Northside estate to the 
northwest approximately 170m distance from the site. The survey accounted 
for existing day and night-time noise levels and accounted for traffic noise as 
well as that from fixed plant. It concluded any impact from daytime levels 
(with dominating background noise levels from traffic) will be low. It is also 
envisaged the impact from night-time levels will be low. 

           
11.112 The applicant has confirmed there will be no piling operations, with the use of 

vibro-compaction works for foundations. 
 
11.113 The existing neighbouring Tesco retail store, approved in 1990, includes its 

delivery yard beyond the site’s perimeter. It is not subject to any planning 
conditions restricting hours of opening/ deliveries, with no record of 
disturbance complaints from its operational activities.  

 
11.114 It is considered that the proposal (subject to planning conditions to control 

noise disturbance e.g. fixed plant) complies with Policy S32 of ALPP1 with 
regard to noise. Indeed, it is the construction phase rather than the 
operational phase that could, without a Construction Management Plan, 
result in amenity issues to residents. The Council’s Environmental Health 
team is that there should be an overall limit to noise during the operational 
phase. However, in officer’s opinion as the noise evidence suggest 
compliance with the required thresholds, subject to a bespoke condition re 
the store’s operational plant details, the imposition of a generic condition is 
considered unreasonable and non-essential. 

 
11.115 The distances to the Northside dwellings will also mean no significant loss of 

amenity from glare from the lighting, overlooking or overshadowing. Given 
the potential impact on wildlife, the lighting scheme was amended to confine 
its illumination primarily on the site.  

 
Access and Parking 
 
11.116 Policy S22 outlines the criteria of transport principles seeking sustainable 

objectives i.e. improving travel choice and trips by non-car modes but 
securing satisfactory means of access, parking and turning for both public 
and commercial residual traffic. 

 
11.117 The site lies within the Principal Service Centre of Workington and directly 

abuts existing lit, segregated footways and cycleways and is within 400m of 
large residential areas. There are also bus stops served by regular services 
to Workington town centre, Flimby and Maryport. The railway station is also 
within an acceptable walking distance, although it is accepted that customers 
to a predominantly convenience store are unlikely to travel by train. But it 
does offer sustainable accessibility for employees.  

 
11.118 The proposal incorporates a new vehicle access road onto the southern 

approach to the A597 bridge over the River Derwent. The percentage of 
additional traffic to the overall flows will be very low. This has been robustly 

Page 99



assessed by the applicant and verified by the County Highways Authority. 
The new junction includes a central island and a box junction. A pedestrian 
crossing is proposed on the southern side of the junction with a section of the 
existing wall removed to secure the visibility splays. 

 
11.119 Overall, the County Highways Authority raise no objections subject to 

planning conditions to ensure the access and off-site works are completed to 
an appropriate standard. The highway merits of the scheme are therefore 
considered acceptable. 

 
11.120 The Highways Authority’s request for a contribution for mitigating highway 

works to Duke Street to avoid its potential use as a rat-run. These requested 
measures do not meet the tests for ‘reasonableness’ for inclusion under any 
s106 Planning Obligation. 

 
Gas utility infrastructure 
 
11.121 An existing gas pipeline traverses in a north-south orientation down the 

eastern side of the site. Northern Gas has outlined its specifications for any 
works within proximity of the pipeline including separation easements, 
methods of working etc. Additional amended information has been received 
to ensure compliance with these technical requirements with mitigation 
measures, prompting the withdrawal of Northern Gas’s initial objection.  

 
Heritage  
 
11.122 Policy S27 of ALPP1 seeks to safeguard, conserve and enhance heritage 

assets. Although this reflects duties contained within sections 66 and 72 of 
the Listed Buildings Act, thus members are required to assess whether there 
is considered to be a significant harmful impact on the setting of these 
designated heritage assets from the proposed development given the 
separation distance to the heritage assets in question and intervening 
existing development. Nevertheless, for robustness, the applicant was 
required to submit a heritage statement with the application. Historic 
England’s GPA Note 3 – assessing setting of heritage assets, was used to 
assess any harm. 

 
11.123 The Heritage Statement was updated to account for the recent Travelodge 

building development, FUL/2019/0499, sited to the south of the Tesco’s 
junction roundabout which lies in the intervening section of land between the 
application site and some of the heritage assets. St. Michael’s Conservation 
Area is located approximately 450 metres to the south. This designation 
includes the landmark Grade ll* listed buildings of St. Michael’s Church and 
its neighbouring Rectory (approx. 400 to the south) and the Grade ll listed 
Joseph Pirt industrial works (approx. 440m to the south-west).  The nearest 
scheduled monuments are Burrow Walls (WHS) (0.85km), Jane Pit (1.58km 
distant) and Workington Hall (1.08km).  

 
11.124 Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states “Any harm to, or loss of, the significance 

of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from 

Page 100



development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification”. 

 
11.125 The applicant’s heritage assessment concludes that setting contributes a 

limited amount to the overall significance of the assets due to the extent of 
change which has already occurred within the assets immediate and wider 
setting, accounting also for the desperation distance and topographical 
distance. It therefore considers that the proposed development will sustain 
the significance of the heritage assets in compliance with local and national 
planning policy. Officers advise that no significance of any of these assets is 
derived from a setting that includes the site. Indeed, none of these assets are 
directly impacted by the proposed development with only limited restricted 
long view combined sightlines.  Officers therefore consider the setting of the 
listed building will be preserved, as will the character and appearance of the 
conservation area, and that there is no conflict with Council policy.  

 
Economic Benefits of the Proposal 
 
11.126 The NPPF, at Paragraph 81, states that the Government is committed to 

ensuring that the planning system does everything it can to support 
sustainable economic growth and that significant weight should be placed on 
the need to support economic growth through the planning system. The 
proposal would create further employment and its investment would support 
the economic growth of the area, it is recognised that the proposal would 
have economic benefits, helping to deliver the economic role of the planning 
system of contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy. 

 
11.127 In accordance with Paragraph 81 of the NPPF, the economic benefits of the 

proposal and the resulting support to economic growth carries significant 
weight. The proposals would make a positive and contribution by further 
investment within Workington and the creation of further employment 
opportunities and bring a long-term vacant site back into beneficial use. 

 

Local Financial Considerations 
 
11.128 Regarding S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the land is owned 

by A.I.P. (Derwent Riverside) Limited (company number 09174440).  
 
                 The Allerdale Investment Partnership is a joint venture between Allerdale 
                 Borough Council and Allerdale Partnership PCC Limited originally formed in 
                 2014. The intention for the limited liability partnership and its associated 
                 bodies is to undertake activities within Allerdale and the County of Cumbria 
                 for the benefit of the local economy and the inhabitants of Cumbria including 
                 the acquisition, marketing, investment in and disposal of sites and assets 
                 owned by the Council and/or third parties, including: 

       Improving the use of the Council’s assets as reflected in the Council’s Asset 
       Management Plan and Council Strategy; 
       Maximising financial return through enhanced asset value; 
       Focusing to raise funds for key Council projects; 

Page 101



       Providing a catalyst for economic regeneration such as housing, leisure, 
       employment and local spend by addressing key strategic priorities, attracting 
       major employers to the area and improving local infrastructure; 
       Achieve targeted area development; and/or 
       Procuring a financial return to the Members of the LLP commensurate to their 
       investment and their level of risk and, so far as consistent with the above 
       overall objectives, maximise profits made by the LLP. 

 
                It is unclear at this stage the extent to which the proposed development would 
                provide any financial consideration to the Council, if at all. 
 
                If developed, the scheme would generate business rates. 
                  
12.0 Balance and Conclusions 

12.1  The proposal has been considered against the Development Plan policies as 

a whole. There are no material considerations which result in a decision not 

being made in accordance with the Development Plan. The Investment Plan 

and Towns Fund funding are a material consideration specific to the retail 

sequential assessment of alternative sites.  

12.2 Rigorous assessment of the impact of the proposal on the viability and vitality 

of the town centre has been undertaken with the application of the sequential 

test and retail impact assessments. The impact is considered acceptable. 

12.3 Overall, the proposal balances Economic, Environmental and Community 

objectives, and is thus sustainable development. And so, subject to 

conditions and planning obligations, this is a sustainable development, 

compliant with the development plan policies and which secures the 

redevelopment of an undeveloped site in poor condition, with associated 

biodiversity enhancement.  

13.0 RECOMMENDATION 

13.1  That the decision to grant permission subject to conditions be 
delegated to the Head of Service or the Planning Manager and subject 
to a section 106 agreement securing the delivery of biodiversity 
enhancement, the surface water drainage outfall and foul drainage 
connection. 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990. 

 

Page 102



In Accordance: 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 

accordance with the following plans: 

 

 Amended application form 19/11/21 re applicant  

 104B Site Access 

 07714-SPACE-00-GF-DR-A-01-0001-S3-P1 Ground Floor 

 07714-SPACE-00-RF-DR-A-02-0001-S3-P1 Roof 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-02-0001-S3-Rev P3 Elevations 20/10/20 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-90-0001-S3-P4 Site Location Plan 

 07714-SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-91-1008-S3-P4 Boundary Treatment 

 07714-00-XX-DR-A-91-1001 S3 Rev P16 Site plan 

 Dwg AMS TPP Rev C  Aborocultural method statement  

 AMS TPP Rev C Tree protection plan 

 AIA TPP Rev C Tree protection plan 

 Arboricultural impact assessment report  Rev C 

 Ground Investigation report (July 2016) 

 SK0001 Rev C Drainage Strategy Plan. 

 Noise assessment   

 Ecological Impact Assessment. Rev H 19/11/21 

 Stage 1 HRA screening and stage 2 Appropriate Assessment Rev I 
10/01/22 

 Flood Risk and Drainage Impact Assessment ref 2019051 Rev D 
dated August 2019  

 Phase ll Geo Environmental site investigation and risk assessment 
21/12/21 

 Letter (Portland consultant engineers) 2019051-mg-001a (0003) re 
ground improvements 21/12/21 

 Predicted vibration levels specification sheet 10/02/21 

 Biodiversity assessment to demonstrate net gain 3/2/21  
DWG 01 Proposed Lighting layout 18/05/21 

 DWG 00 car parking lighting 18/05/21 

 Lidl CB data sheets 6m lighting column (Ref. TB061) 

 Travel Plan 

 4251-MP-00-00-DR-S-0110-S2 REV P01 Foul water drainage general 
arrangement Amended 8/7/21  

 Lidl CB data sheets 

 Tree planting guidelines  

 MAN.1234.001.LD.45.001 Rev A Planting plan (1 of 2) 

 DWG 16-1093-201 Rev C General arrangement (highway works) 

 002 Rev C External works layout 20/10/20 

 E-mail re 27/11/19 re drainage 

 Landscape and management Ecological Management plan Rev A Feb 
2022 

Page 103

javascript:AppBlobImage('488409');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488410');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488411');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488411');


Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 
 

 

 Pre-commencement conditions: 
 
3.  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed until the 

approved protective fencing outlined on drawing Dwg AMS TPP Rev C Tree 
Protection Plan (AMS TPP Rev C), has been implemented prior to the 
commencement of the development and maintained at all times during the 
construction period. 
Reason: To ensure the retention of existing protected important trees on the site 
in compliance with Policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

  
4.  No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Statement shall include the following: 

 
a)  Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 

development, including on-site parking and turning facilities for site 
and staff traffic and demolition and construction access details; 

b)  Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise from the construction 
including monitoring and accounting for noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445. 

c)  Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution; 

d)  A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition; 

e)  Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition; 

f)  Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
g)  Hours of working and deliveries; 
h)  Details of lighting to be used on site. The approved statement shall be 

adhered to throughout the duration of the development.  
i) No piling operations shall be undertaken at the site without the written 

consent of the local planning authority. 
 j) Details of lighting to be used on site.  

k) Surface surface water management plan including appropriate 
flooding and pollution prevention guideline measures to include 
biosecurity, materials and machinery storage, and mitigation for the 
control and management of noise, dust, surface water run-off and 
waste to protect the River Derwent and any surface water drains from 
sediment, and pollution from cement or fuel. 

 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
construction phase of the development. 
Reason: In the interests of general local amenity and in the interests of 
safeguarding ecological interests and biodiversity, safeguard against flooding the 

Page 104

javascript:AppBlobImage('488384');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488384');


to the suuroounding sites and to safeguard agianst pollution of surrounding 
watercourses and drainage systemsin compliance with Policy S29, S32 and S35 
of the Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) 2014. 
 

5.  Prior to the commencement of works, details of the finished floor level of 
the retail building hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To minimise the risk of flooding in the locality of the site to accord with 
policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 

 
6.  The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be designed, 

constructed, drained to a standard suitable for adoption and, in this 
respect, further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before work 
commences on site. No work shall be commenced until a full specification 
has been approved. Any works so approved shall be constructed before 
the development is complete.  
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
highway safety in compliance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
2014.  

 
7.  Full details of the surface water drainage system (incorporating SUDs 

features as far as practicable) and a maintenance schedule (identifying the 
responsible parties) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval prior to development being commenced. The details will 
demonstrate that no flooding will occur on any part of the site for a 1 in 30 
year event unless designed to do so, flooding will not occur to any building 
in a 1 in 100 year event plus 30% to account for climate change, and where 
reasonably possible flows resulting from rainfall in excess of a 1 in 100 
year 6 hour rainfall event are managed in conveyance routes (plans of flow 
routes etc). The submitted drainage details shall be carried out (in 
accordance with principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk and 
Drainage Impact Assessment ref: 2019051 Revision D dated August 2019 
proposing surface water discharging into watercourse written by Portland 
Consulting Engineers. Any approved works shall be implemented prior to 
the development being completed and shall be maintained thereafter in 
accordance with the schedule.  
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. To ensure the surface water system 
continues to function as designed and that flood risk is not increased within the 
site or elsewhere in compliance with policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1) 2014.  

 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 
8. The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with Para 7   

“Advice and recommendations “of the Phase ll Geo Environmental site 

investigation and risk assessment 21/12/21 and a verification report 

Page 105



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior 

to the development being brought into operational use.  

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.  

 
9.  In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.  
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 2014. 
 

10. The approved lighting details under DWG 01 Proposed Lighting layout 
18/05/21, DWG 00 car parking lighting 18/05/21 and Lidl CB data sheets 6m 
lighting column (Ref. TB061) shall be implemented prior to the 
commencement of the use of the store and shall not depart from those 
levels which are specified in the approved details.   

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties and minimise 
the impact of the works on the ecological value and species of the River 
Derwent’s watercourse, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 2014 and 
Policy SA49 and SA52 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 2) 

  
11.  The approved operational retail use of the development hereby permitted 

shall not commence until the approved means of enclosure details outlined 
on Dwg 07714-00-XX-DR-A-91-1008-S3-P4 - Boundary Treatment Plan, have 
been constructed. These details shall be retained at all times and no part 
thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area in compliance with Policy S33 and 
DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).   

 
12.   A full specification for all the fixed refrigeration and ventilation plant for the 

retail A1 units including octave band data, its location and any necessary 
mitigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any construction works above plinth level. The 
development shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved 

Page 106

javascript:AppBlobImage('488382');


details prior to the commencement of the use and retained at all times 
thereafter. 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 

  
13.   All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the approved scheme Dwg 

MAN.1234.001.L.D.45.001.P4 Planting Details Rev P4 shall be carried out in 

the first planting season following completion of the development, and any 

trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 

development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 

shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 

species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality in compliance Policy S33, S35 and 
DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.and policies S49 and SA52 of the 
Allerdale local plan (Part 2) 

 
14.  Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.  

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and 
pollution and to accord with policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  

 
15.  Development shall not start trading until the approved pedestrian crossing 

has been implemented in accordance with the approved details on Dwg 16-

1093-201 Rev C Access General Arrangement and shall thereafter be 

retained for the lifetime of the development.  

Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety and in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
2014.  

 
16.  The development shall not be brought into use until the visibility splays 

and access arrangement providing clear visibility as shown on plan 16-
1093-201 Rev C Access General Arrangement are provided at the junction 
of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the 
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.  
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
2014.  

 

17.  Within 6 months of the development (or any part thereof) opening for 
business, the developer shall prepare and submit to the Local Planning 
Authority for their approval an updated Travel Plan which shall identify the 

Page 107

javascript:AppBlobImage('488385');
javascript:AppBlobImage('488385');


measures that will be undertaken by the developer to encourage the 
achievement of a modal shift away from the use of private cars to visit the 
development to sustainable transport modes in  accordance with the 
principles of Chapter 7 of the Cora Travel plan document dated August 
2019 . The updated plan shall include details of an annual report reviewing 
the effectiveness of the Travel Plan and including any necessary 
amendments or measures. The measures identified in the Travel Plan shall 
be implemented by the developer within 12 months of the development (or 
any part thereof) opening for business.  
 Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in compliance 
with policies S2 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.  

 
18.  The access roads, parking areas etc shall be designed, constructed, 

drained and lit, to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and in 
this respect full engineering details, shall be submitted for approval before 
construction works commence above ground level. The use shall not be 
commenced until such access and parking/servicing areas and pedestrian 
access routes have been constructed in accordance with the approved 
plans. All such provision shall be maintained for as long as the use 
continues and shall not be removed or altered thereafter, without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access and public safety/security 
when the development is brought into use and is retained thereafter in 
compliance with policies S2 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.  

  
19.  The application sites retail A1 unit hereby approved shall not exceed 1004 

m2 floorspace for the sale of convenience goods and 252m2 for comparison 
goods without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To safeguard the vitality and viability of the town centre, in compliance 
with Policies S16 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.  

 
20.  The development shall be implemented solely in accordance with the 

mitigation and recommendations outlined in Section 4 and 5 of the Enzygo 
Ecological Impact Assessment. Rev H 19/11/21. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the habitat of protected species in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 and DM17 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.  
 

21. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 

accordance with principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk and 

Drainage Impact Assessment ref: 2019051 Revision D dated August 2019 

proposing surface water discharging into watercourse written by Portland 

Consulting Engineers, as amended by the foul drainage connection plan 

4251-MP-00-00-DR-S-0110-S2 REV P01 Foul water drainage general 

arrangement Amended 8/7/21.  

          No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the 

public sewer. Any variation to the discharge of foul shall be agreed in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the 

Page 108

javascript:AppBlobImage('488410');


development. The development shall be completed in accordance with the 

approved details.  

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 

increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding 

22. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence 

until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with 

contamination of the site in respect of the development hereby permitted, 

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 

authority. This strategy will include the following components: 

          1. A site investigation scheme, based on the desk study to provide 

information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may 

be affected, including those off-site. 

          2. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment 

referred to in (1) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation 

strategy giving full details of the remediation measures required and how 

they are to be undertaken. 

          3. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in 

order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in 

(2) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term 

monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 

contingency action. Any changes to these components require the written 

consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented 

as approved.  

 Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at         

unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 

pollution in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

 

Note to applicant: Tree planting guidelines. 
  

Page 109



 

  

Page 110



 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 2/2018/0595 - Land west of Derwent Howe Retail Park, Derwent Drive, Workington - Outline planning application for commercial development involved mixed retail (A1) food (A3) and hot food takeaways (A5) totalling 2,350sqm (25.295sqft)
	6 FUL/2019/0210 - Land at New Bridge Road, Workington - Erection of a new discount foodstore with car parking, landscaping and other associated works

